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Chairman’s Statement

TRBE

RESULTS

I, on behalf of the board of directors, announce that the Group’s
turnover for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 was
HK$2,789,334,000, representing an increase of 9% over the same period
of last year (2011: HK$2,561,847,000). The net profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company amounted to HK$52,581,000 (2011:
HK$72,324,000).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HKS5.0 cents (2011: HKS.0 cents) per ordinary share in
respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2012. Subject to the
shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting to be held on
28 August 2012, the final dividend will be payable on 25 September
2012. Together with the interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share, the
total dividends per share for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 is

HK?7.0 cents (2011: HK7.0 cents).
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Chairman’s Statement

TRBE

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year under review, leveraging the Group’s brand equity and its
wealth of marketing experience and promotion tactic, both segments in
Hong Kong and Mainland China recorded a steady sales growth. The
sales derived from Hong Kong segment reached HK$1,818,989,000,
representing an increase of 6% over the same period of last year, and
accounted for approximately 65% of the Group’s total sales. The sales
in Mainland China was HK$970,345,000, increased by 14% compared
to the same period of last year, and accounted for approximately
35% of the Group’s total sales. As a result of the overall industry-
wide rising operating expenses, the segmental result of Hong Kong
was declined accordingly and the segmental result of Mainland China

maintained approximately at the same level as last year.

Distribution Business

Food distribution business is the core business of the Group. With
over 40 years’ business development, the Group has distributed over
hundreds of internationally renowned brand of quality food products
from around the world including milk powder, milk, biscuits, cakes,
confectioneries, chocolates, snacks, instant noodles, ice-cream, health
foods, wine, beverages, sauce, seasonings, ham and sausages to suit
the demands of different customers. The products were delivered
through the Group’s extensive distribution network and superb sales
force to a wide range of customers covering department stores,
supermarkets, convenience stores, fast food chains, wholesalers,
retailers, restaurants, pubs, hotels and airlines. In addition, the Group’s
integrated marketing strategy together with its well-established
customer base and close relationship with suppliers, the Group has
commanded a dominant position with high prestige in the food
industry of Hong Kong.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Manufacturing Business

Building on the competitive advantage of 20 self-owned
manufacturing plants in both Mainland China and Hong Kong, the
Group has provided a dedicated one-stop business platform to best
serve the needs of its customers and fit its overall marketing strategy
in both Hong Kong and Mainland China. With the stringent quality
control and elite management, the Group has been able to produce a
series of food products including seaweed, candies, confectioneries,
puffed snacks, peanuts, potato chips, prawn crackers, corn sticks,
instant noodles, ice-cream, biscuits, cakes, chestnuts, ham, sausages,
frozen dim sum, Tsubu Tsubu orange drinks, coffee, milk tea, lemon

tea, green tea, Oolong tea and dairy drinks.

In partnership with Japan’s CALBEE, Inc., the Group established
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited in Hong Kong in 1994. It
continues to produce along with “Calbee” brand products while
its manufacturing plant in Shantou city of Guangdong province
will produce all products with “Four Seas” brand. The Group has
confidence in marketing “Four Seas Potato Chips” and “Four Seas

Prawn Crackers” in Mainland China.

Over the years, the Group has strived for a culture of high standards
of food quality control in terms of food hygiene, food safety and
food material supplies in compliance with various international
standards. The Group obtained numerous accreditations from relevant
international institutions including “HACCP”, “ISO 9001”, “ISO
220007, “Hong Kong Q-Mark Product Scheme Certification”, etc for

its food quality management.
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Four Seas Brand

The Group is a pioneer of establishing its own brand name in Hong
Kong and successfully launched a series of exclusive products under
its own private brand of “Four Seas”. All “Four Seas” branded
products have been widely recognised by consumers for its high
quality and gained a vote of confidence and trust from customers in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. Brand awareness has been highly
enhanced and perceived by the public.

Capitalising on powerful brand name differentiation and creative
advertising message together with the endorsement of the celebrities,
“Four Seas” brand has been highly acknowledged by consumers.
Among them included “Four Seas Tsubu Tsubu Orange Drinks” by
Mr. Richie Yen; “Four Seas Seaweed” by Mr. Hins Cheung and “Four
Seas Biscuits” by Miss Niki Chow. In addition, the Group sponsored
a number of music concerts of popular singers including Miss Joey
Yung, Mr. Hins Cheung, Mr. Richie Yen, and the Group organised its
40th Anniversary Concert, Mr. Liu Chia-Chang led various music stars
to perform numerous golden oldies. All have been well acclaimed by
consumers and have gained the popularity and market penetration of
the “Four Seas” brand products.

Catering Business

The Group has developed its catering business with stable growth.
Its specialty restaurants, including a Japanese-style restaurant,
“Restaurant Shiki”, a Japanese dumpling chain “Osaka Ohsho”, and
the award-winning vegetarian restaurant “Kung Tak Lam Shanghai
Vegetarian Cuisine” and the sushi restaurant chain “Sushi Oh” in
Mainland China, all have been well received by customers.

Panxi Restaurant, located in the sightseeing spot of Liwan district in
Guangzhou, is one of the largest garden-style Chinese restaurants in
Mainland China. It received the status of “National Grade Restaurant”,
the titles of “Old Chinese Trademark” and “Guangzhou Top 10 Gifts”.
The well-known “Eight Famous Dishes and Eight Delicious Dim Sum”
of Panxi Restaurant won various prizes from national and international
cuisine competitions. Panxi is a stylish restaurant designed with south
China landscaped architecture, winding path, woven lush greenery
and enchanting lake. Accompanying by the charming sceneries and
delicious dim sum and cuisine, Panxi has been attracting the patronage
of a large number of visitors and will bring much more business

potential.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Retailing Business

“Okashi Land” is a leading specialty store offering an assortment
of high quality trendy snack food to young consumers. With its
extensive retail network of exceeding 80 outlets placed over every
prominent district in Hong Kong, “Okashi Land” has been one of
the most renowned retailing brand in Hong Kong and delivered a
satisfactory performance. Attracting by its engaging shop layout along
with product varieties and contemporary collections of gift, “Okashi
Land” has been a favourite paradise for young generation. The Group
will continue to develop its retail business in both Mainland China
and Hong Kong which will certainly contribute to a steady business

growth.

PROSPECTS

Since its establishment in 1971, Four Seas Group has been actively
pursuing its development amid the ever-changing competitive business
environment during the past 40 years and has become an international
food enterprise renowned for food manufacturing, distribution,
retailing, catering and agricultural activities. The Group has built up
good reputation, well-established customer base and commanding
position in the food industry. Four Seas Group is one of the largest
food conglomerates in Hong Kong. “Four Seas Potato Chips” and
“Four Seas Prawn Crackers”, the leisure foods produced by the
manufacturing plant co-owned with Japan’s CALBEE, Inc. and located
in Shantou, China, have been well-received in the China market. It is
anticipated that they will contribute to the China market development

of the Group in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I, on behalf of the board of directors, express our most sincere
gratitude to the management team and all staff for their efforts
and contribution made to the Group. I would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all shareholders and business partners for their
confidence and continuous support to the Group.

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, SBS, GBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2012
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Major Awards of the Year

FEXERRE
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Continuous recognition & awards received during this year

MAEER2EEARENRREEZ— REXRBERRZ LN ZE
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Four Seas Group is one of the leading food enterprises in Hong
Kong, distributing various kinds of renowned food brands from around
the world. The Group has been developing its own premium brand
successfully, and has been highly recognised and accredited with
various awards this year.

AEEFFAESELREUTRIA

<Y1 LA
The following awards are granted to our Group’s Chairman, Dr. Stephen Tai : gL MmA™

10

RiT/RE BRERE

Recognition/Award Organiser

TEHMER hEARANEEBRHTHEIA

Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China

BREMER hEARANEE BRI THEYS

Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS)

DAEHLER

(FHAM)  FEAYRE
EmRREELEEARELE

Honorary Certificate of “Distinguished Management Entrepreneur’

EABTHRIREE ANAE

Asia Brand Year Personality Award

RREHEA DEZER

01FH e EAREHRHAEE \ Y5

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China
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hERMZEFE
China Food Safety Annual Conference
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Recognition/Award

BHEEHEAR

Prime Awards for Corporate Social Responsibility
AREEE

Caring Company Award
RRERTHENREIE

Honorary Certificate of “Model Enterprise of Food
Safety”

FRECNRRER (TN AERRE

Asia Famous and Fine Brand Award of “Asia Brand
Ceremony”
FENSCERRNMZIRARELERE]
The Most Potential Company Awards 2011
ﬁg%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%mﬂ2fﬂﬁﬁkﬁ—%gﬁ¥

AR

Judging Panel - High Potential Corporate Brand of
‘Hong Kong Corporate Branding Award 2011
BREEHEER2011-2012

Hong Kong & Macau Merchants of Integrity Award
2011-2012

ERRETERARE

Hong Kong Top Brand Ten Year Achievement Award

BRREEE

Caring Company Award

AT EEET 82l A7 £%2011-2013 | B
“‘Manpower Developer 2011-2013" of Manpower
Developer Award Scheme
150220008122 EER AR

15022000 System Certification

GMPR IR &R

GMP System Certification
HACCPBE AT REREHEZ AR
HACCP Codex Alimentarius Certificate
058REEEE

Quality Restaurant for 10 Consecutive Years
BRETARERALR

1509001 REERRAE

1509001 Quality Management System Certificate
1S0220008 1R 2 EREADE

18022000 Food Safety Management System
Certificate

HACCPRAIR2 EREZ A

HACCP Food Safety Management System Certificate

ZRECNRHEL 2 [PERREERE]
Value Champion of Chinese Brand of “Asia Brand
Ceremony”

[BEHRERY I ZTEF

“QTS Merchant” of the Quality Tourism Services
Scheme

BRREE

Caring Company Award
BREEHEES011-2012

Hong Kong & Macau Merchants of Integrity Award
2011-2012

FXROEEREHERR

RBeXAB [EREFXRAR

Health & Beauty Awards

W0AET ZHES 2[R ERETRE]
QOutstanding Category Performance Award - Snacks
of “Favourite Brands Awards’
NMFERERRMEAR

2011 7-Eleven Top Brands Campaign Award

Bk £ 1B (TOPE)
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark)

ERQEEEERAE
Hong Kong Q-Mark Licence

BRI /KR

Awardees
D%
Four Seas Group
mHEE
Four Seas Group
NEE

Four Seas Group

L
Four Seas Group

mA&E
Four Seas Group
Y]
Four Seas Group

mHEE
Four Seas Group

mifEE

Four Seas Group

FEBONERAR
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
~EBONERAR
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited

FEBMNERAA

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
+EBONERAR

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FEBMHARLE

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
NERLEZR

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine
ROmAOLE)ERAR

Nico Four Seas (Shantou) Co., Ltd.
REBHAEHRERAT

Dongguang Four Seas Meat Processing Co., Ltd
REOHREHRERLE

Dongguang Four Seas Meat Processing Co., Ltd

REBHARHRERAT
Dongguang Four Seas Meat Processing Co., Ltd

FEER
Panxi Restaurant

IR
Okashi Land

ZaME
Okashi Land
ZRIE
Okashi Land

2RNE

Okashi Land

BHERRERHRTDAE D

Four Seas Seaweed and Meiji Milk Chocolate
48

Calbee

FEBER
Calbee Chips

£
Maid Brand

SRR
Maid Ham

WORT/ REAIRMESTHXEM -

Certain recognition/awards are only provided with official Chinese name.

Major Awards of the Year

EREE

Organizer

E3g

Prime Magazine

BELEREKS

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
THRAREES

China Food Safety Annual Conference

iRMELaEZES

Asia Brand Ceremony Organizing
Committee

BrEEATREASEE

Capital and Capital Weekly
BREFARAAREEANAR
Ming Pao Newspapers Limited and The
Chinese University of Hong Kong

Y
Guangzhou Daily

BEEMERRERTERERAS
Hong Kong Brand Development Council
and The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong

B eRRHe

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
EEEEIR

Employees Retraining Board

BRBRLEN

SGS Hong Kong Limited
ERBANES

SGS Hong Kong Limited
BRERLEN

SGS Hong Kong Limited
ERNBERR

Hong Kong Tourism Board
NEDIBARERR

EEndRER
HKQAA
EERERER
HKQAA

Moody International Certification Ltd.

iy Y
Asia Brand Ceremony Organizing
Committee

BRiERRR

Hong Kong Tourism Board

B ERREe

Hong Kong Council of Social Services
ENBH

Guangzhou Daily

FHpEaRAIES

CELT
Mannings China
EERATS
Wellcome Supermarket

7-ElevenfE A%

7-Eleven Convenience Store
EREARURRERTZRBELE
Hong Kong Brand Development Council
and The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong
BEIXES

The Federation of Hong Kong Industries
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE TN

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Yo 5 4

Year ended 31 March Change
BREIHIIH LR E I+ 499 ke
2012 2011
TR T4 TR
HK$’000 HK$°000 (%)
BT BT T
Key income statement items FHERKERHEE
Revenue KA 2,789,334 2,561,847 +8.9
Gross profit EF 785,168 692,162 +13.4
EBITDA" REFLE ~ FraeBl - g
T 8 8 i i ) 129,823 141,812 -8.5
Profit attributable to i S AS A E R S
equity holders of the Company R ER Y 52,581 72,324 -27.3

A EBITDA refers to earnings before interest, income tax,
depreciation and amortisation (excluding share of profits and

losses of associates)

During the year, revenue of the Group has increased by 8.9% as

compared with the previous year. Sales revenue of the major items are:

A REHRLE -~ BRARAL - 985 % HE 8 A A (OF
175 M AN Wi 5 O ) v A B e 4R)

FRAFE A > 4 T B A B AR BRI AT 8 9% I B R o
HaEhZ AT :

Year ended 31 March Change
BRE3IH31H IL4E I+l 9] b

2012 2011

e St 2 TR
HK$’000 HK$°000 (%)

BT B o
Snack N 1,055,317 982,081 +7.5
Confectionery R 469,145 457,440 +2.6
Ham and sausage VY& 305,389 265,708 +14.9
Beverage and dairy products Y E R 266,827 262,521 +1.6
Food materials/ingredients & 5 ERH 224,853 198,972 +13.0

The sales of the major items of the Group have been enjoying healthy
growth, especially for the ham and sausage products under the “Maid”
brand of the Group. Synergised with media advertising, the high
quality of “Maid” brand products have strengthened the consumers’

confidence which have contributed to the sales growth.

The sales of the snack products has witnessed a growth of 7.5%. The
Group has launched potato chips, prawn crackers and corn sticks under
the brand of “Four Seas” in Mainland China which is anticipated to

make sustainable growth for these products.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2012
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements
of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates
are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements, respectively.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2012 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the

financial statements on pages 44 to 159.

An interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share was paid by the
Company on 12 January 2012. The directors recommend the payment
of a final dividend of HKS5.0 cents per share in respect of the year to
shareholders on the register of members on 6 September 2012. This
recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements
as an allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the

statement of financial position.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION W %R B 2

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group A A ) 408 25 AR B B AT B 2 3 A O R AL R R
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited FH O A i B A8 8 4% 1) B 2 S v B B o EAE R O B

financial statements, is set out below: H:
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z1T—HIL4EE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
R R ZE-FE “FFME FFN\E
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$° 000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T T T T T T T oL

RESULTS ES
REVENUE WA 2,789,334 2,561,847 2,347,582 2,290,626 2,096,535
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A B 185 1 43,787 72,733 83,319 90,537 86,176
Attributable to: JEAL -
Equity holders of the AR ) I 2
Company K 52,581 72,324 86,440 105,048 81,172
Non-controlling interests I 4 B WE 2% (8,794) 409 (3,121) (14,511) 5,004

43,787 72,733 83,319 90,537 86,176

As at 31 March

REH=1+—H
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
SR SR DR R JRFAE RS
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000

W T T T T T HH T T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ & M fif&

TOTAL ASSETS W 2,425,843 2,362,492 2,163,798 2,086,086 1,940,142
TOTAL LIABILITIES A (1,290,006) (1,242,763) (1,142,127) (1,092,247) (1,035,846)
1,135,837 1,119,729 1,021,671 993,839 904,296

The information set out above does not form part of the audited MY T MO 2 N A R O B A% I B O B — R o

financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and an
investment property of the Group during the year are set out in notes
14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further details of

the Group’s investment property are set out on page 160.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised or

issued share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 32(b) to the financial statements and

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2012, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to HK$298,964,000,
of which HK$19,416,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for the

year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of the reporting

period are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:
Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

YIP Wai Keung

WU Wing Biu

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson

Independent non-executive directors:

LEUNG Mei Han

CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter

Tsunao KIJIMA (appointed on 9 July 2011)
Hiroshi ZAIZEN (retired on 18 August 2011)

In accordance with article 119 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis, Mr. Wu Wing Biu and Mr.
Yip Wai Keung shall retire and being eligible, will offer themselves

for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still considers them to be

independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board of
directors with reference to directors’ involvement in the Company’s
affairs, experience, responsibilities and the prevailing market level of
remuneration of executives of similar positions , and reviewed by the
remuneration committee of the Group. Details of remuneration of the
directors are set out in note 8 to the financial statements. Particulars of
the duties and responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set

out in “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(continued)

The emoluments of Mr. Wu Wing Biu has become HK$1,079,000
per annum since 1 April 2012, which comprise directors’ fee, salary
as well as other benefits in kind and allowances and are determined
by the board of directors based on his involvement in the Company’s
affairs, experience, responsibilities and the prevailing market level of
remuneration of executives of similar positions. He is also entitled to
discretionary management bonus which shall be decided in the sole
discretion of the board of directors based on his performances for the

previous year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2012, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: AAGEBIBIH I :
Number of ordinary shares held, capacity and nature of interest
i3 Vo4 GRS W £

Approximate
Through percentage of
Directly Through controlled the Company’s
beneficially controlled Beneficiary  corporation and Total issued
Name of director owned corporation of a trust other interests interests share capital
g Eed ] 2
B Wt i A Rk T RA
EHAR HERRHEA Bl Hid Mg JAbE e At B#T A
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Yy - 81,250,000¢ 82,000,000 115,228,000 278,478,000 71.29%
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly HER - 81,250,0007 82,000,000 115,228,001 278,478,000 71.29%
Yip Wai Keung R 680,000 - - - 680,000 0.17%

Mo % ®mAERAR o =T - =%FF58% 17



18

Report of the Directors
EEEHSE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Notes:

(i) The 81,250,000 shares are owned by Special Access Limited (“SAL”),
a company wholly owned by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his
spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

(ii) The 82,000,000 shares are owned by Careful Guide Limited (“CGL”),
whose shares are owned by a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust,
the eligible beneficiaries of which include members of the family of
Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

(iii) The 115,228,000 shares are owned by Capital Season Investments
Limited (“CSI”). CSI is wholly owned by Advance Finance
Investments Limited (“AFI”), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”).
Accordingly, HKFH is deemed to be interested in 115,228,000 shares
in the Company. HKFH is owned as to 0.07% by the Company, 2.59%
by Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.38% by SAL, and as to 11.91% by
CGL. As Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is deemed to be interested in the
shares of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and vice versa. Therefore, Dr.
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly,
are considered to have deemed interests in 115,228,000 shares of the
Company.

All the interests stated above represent long positions in the shares of
the Company. Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, none of
the directors and chief executive nor any of their associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations required to be disclosed
pursuant to the SFO.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, none of the directors and
chief executive of the Company nor any of their respective spouses
or minor children was granted or held options to subscribe for shares
in the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), or had

exercised such rights.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any of the directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to

acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under
Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that, as at 31 March 2012,

the following parties (other than the directors and chief executive of

the Company as disclosed above) had notified the Company of the

following substantial shareholders’ interests or short positions, being

5% or more of the total issued share capital of the Company:
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Approximate

percentage

of the

Number of Company’s

Long/short ordinary issued share

Name of substantial shareholder Notes Capacity position shares held capital
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EX) 3 & it S W8/ KA FHYH BAE AR

SAL Direct F $ Long 8 81,250,000 20.80%

CGL Direct H# Long % & 82,000,000 20.99%

HSBC International Trustee Limited (i) Deemed [H]#% Long i & 82,000,000 20.99%

CSI Direct H# Long # 8 115,228,000 29.50%

AFI (i) Deemed [ 4% Long iF & 115,228,000 29.50%

HKFH 7 i & fib (iii) Deemed [#]#% Long 4 £ 115,228,000 29.50%
Notes: s

i) The interest of HSBC International Trustee Limited is held as trustee i) HSBC International Trustee LimitedZ #E 25 )% %5 i

(i)

(iii)

via CGL for a discretionary trust, the Tai Family Trust, the eligible
beneficiaries of which include members of the family of Dr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen, and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. These
interests are also included as beneficiary of a trust of Dr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen, and his spouse, Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, in the above
section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any

associated corporation” above.

AFI is deemed by virtue of its holding of the entire issued share capital
of CSI to be interested in the shares of the Company held by CSI.

HKFH is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by
CSI by virtue of its holding in the entire issued share capital of AFI,
which in turn wholly owns CSI.

(i)

(iii)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2012, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation”) had an interest and/or short position
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company did not have any outstanding options at the beginning
and at the end of the year. During the year under review, no options
have been granted under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 2 September 2002. Details of the share option scheme are
set out in note 31 to the financial statements.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, SBS, GBS, JP, PhD (honoris causa),
aged 64, has been an executive director of the Company since June
1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman of the Group, in charge
of corporate and policy planning. Apart from being awarded the
Gold Bauhinia Star and Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”), Dr.
Tai has also been appointed as Justice of the Peace. He holds the
Visiting Professor of South China Normal University and South
China Agricultural University, member of the Board of Trustees
of Jinan University. He is a Standing Committee Member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference and a Standing Committee Member of the Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC”). Dr. Tai holds several public positions,
including the president of the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the
president of Hong Kong Japan Confectionery, Biscuit & Foodstuffs
Association, the president of the Hong Kong CPPCC (Provincial)
Members Association, the chairman of the Hong Kong Guangdong
Chamber of Foreign Investors, the consultant of the China National
Food Industry Association, Economic Adviser of Jilin City and a
member of the Greater Pearl River Delta Business Council of the
HKSAR. He received a number of awards and accolades, including the
World Outstanding Chinese Award, the Philanthropist Award of the
Grand Charity Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished
Service Award, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, the Social Responsibility Contribution
Award, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable Citizen of
Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City” in Mainland
China. He is also the chairman of Hong Kong Food Investment
Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and a director of Careful Guide Limited and Special
Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders of the
Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 59, has been
an executive director of the Company since June 1993. Dr. Wu is a
co-founder and the managing director of the Group, responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning and operation policies, leading the
Group’s core business in congruence with its corporate development.
She has more than 30 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
business. Dr. Wu is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. She is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 56, has been an executive
director of the Company since August 1999. Mr. Man is the finance
director of the Group, responsible for corporate finance, accounting,
information technology and project investments of the Group. Mr.
Man has a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New
South Wales in Australia. He is also a member of the CPA Australia
and The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
gained extensive experience in finance and accounting from overseas
multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined the Group in 1992. He is

also the managing director of HKFH.

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 53, has been an executive director of the
Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in sales,
marketing and merchandising and is now responsible for product
purchasing, merchandising, brand name development, and assisting
in the establishment of close relationship with mainland Chinese and
overseas suppliers. He has more than 30 years’ experience in the food
and confectionery industry. Mr. Wu joined the Group in 1978. He is
a brother of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, an executive director of the

Company.

Mr. YIP Wai Keung, aged 62, has been an executive director of
the Company since June 1993. Mr. Yip is responsible for project
development of the Group and liaising with joint venture partners.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip was responsible for the sales and
marketing activities in a Japanese food company in Hong Kong. He
has more than 30 years’ experience in sales development. Mr. Yip
joined the Group in 1979. He is also an executive director of HKFH.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. NAM Chi Ming, Gibson, aged 51, has been an executive
director of the Company since April 2010. Mr. Nam is responsible for
managerial controls and company secretarial affairs. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Nam is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an
associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. He has
extensive financial and managerial experience. Mr. Nam worked in the
Group from 1996 to 1999, and re-joined the Group in 2001.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 53, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 1998. Ms.
Leung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia and is a fellow member of the CPA Australia.
Ms. Leung has more than 20 years’ experience in accounting,
securities, corporate finance and related areas. Ms. Leung is an
executive director of AMCO United Holding Limited. She is also an
independent non-executive director of Bossini International Holdings
Limited, Yue Da Mining Holdings Limited and Xiangyu Dredging
Holdings Limited. The shares of these companies are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 66, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2000. Mr. Chan was
the chairman of a company listed on the Stock Exchange until July
2002. He was a senior general manager of a local bank until November
1998. Mr. Chan was also a director of a listed company in Hong
Kong from 1993 to 1995 and an executive director of a joint Chinese-
foreign bank in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30 years’
experience in the banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan is currently
an independent non-executive director of GOME Electrical Appliances
Holding Limited, Imagi International Holdings Limited and Opes Asia
Development Limited, companies whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Tsunao KIJIMA, aged 64, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since July 2011. Mr. Kijima
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Keio University in
Japan. He was the executive vice president of Mitsubishi Corporation
and also the chief representative for China and Europe of Mitsubishi
Corporation during different periods of time. Mr. Kijima has more
than 35 years’ experience of worldwide trading of processed foods,
beverages, snack foods and other food products. Mr. Kijima served as
a non-executive director of Lianhua Supermarket Holdings Co., Ltd.,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, from 2001 to 2006. He was an independent non-executive
director of the Company from 1997 to 2006.

Mr. Hiroshi ZAIZEN, aged 78, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company in July 2006. He is a graduate
of Waseda University. He was decorated for the Knight of the Order
of the Dannebrog from The Queen of Royal Denmark. Between the
years 1988 and 1991, Mr. Zaizen was the chairman and managing
director of Mitsubishi Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited. He was a
director of Mitsubishi Corporation, Tokyo from 1989 to 1998 and
retired as executive vice president and representative director in 1998.
Mr. Zaizen holds several public positions including the president of
Japan-Hong Kong Business Association, Councillor of Japan/Denmark
Association, a member of Executive Committee of Federation of Hong
Kong Business Associations Worldwide, a member of Japan/Canada
Forum and a member of Japan Hong Kong Business Committee. He
has an extensive business and management experience in the food
industry. He did not offer himself for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company held on 18 August 2011 due to retirement.

Senior Management

Mr. Kaoru ISHIKAWA, aged 56, is the general manager of the
Group, responsible for planning and managing the Group’s businesses
in Mainland China. Before joining the Group, Mr. Ishikawa was the
president of Calbee Four Seas Company Limited, a joint venture
company of the Group and CALBEE, Inc. of Japan. He was later
promoted to the position of an operating officer of CALBEE, Inc. of
Japan and became the general manager of its West Japan Division,
responsible for food production, sales and marketing. Mr. Ishikawa
has more than 30 years’ experience in the food industry and joined the
Group in 2012.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 51, is a director and the general manager
of Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited (“HK Ham”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, responsible for the overall strategic
planning and production operation of the Group’s ham manufacturing
operations. He has extensive experience in the manufacturing of ham
and ham related products. Mr. Tse joined HK Ham in 1980. He is also

an executive director of HKFH.

Mr. LAI Yuk Fai, Patrick, aged 57, is the director of the Group’s
China sales department, responsible for sales planning and activities
in Mainland China. Mr. Lai has a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining
the Group, he was the general manager of sales department of a
multinational company. Mr. Lai joined the Group in 1998 and
temporarily left in the latter part of 2007 and re-joined the Group in
2008.

Mr. FUNG Kwok Wing, Kenny, aged 51, is the financial controller,
responsible for finance and accounting. Mr. Fung holds a Master of
Business Administration degree, Master of Corporate Governance
degree, Master of Finance degree and Master of Professional
Accounting degree. He is also a member of various professional
institutes, including The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
and The Chartered Institute of Marketing in the United Kingdom. Mr.
Fung has extensive experience in accounting and administration. He
joined the Group in 1985 and temporarily left in the latter part of 2007
and re-joined the Group in 2008.

Mr. CHENG Ngai Lim, Raymond, aged 48, is the associate director
of the Group’s Hong Kong and Macau sales department, responsible
for sales development and strategic management planning of Hong
Kong and Macau markets. Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Science from The University of Hong Kong. He has more than 20
years’ experience in the consumer goods market. Before joining the
Group, he was a commercial director of a multinational corporation.
Mr. Cheng joined the Group in 2008.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers. As at 31
March 2012, the Group had banking facilities of HK$1,727,172,000 of
which 54% had been utilised. The Group had a gearing ratio of 85%
as at 31 March 2012. This is expressed as the total bank borrowings to
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company. Bank borrowings
of the Group, denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Japanese Yen,
Renminbi and United States dollars, mainly comprise trust receipt
loans and bank loans (the “Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings™)
at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank
Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities are repayable on
demand or within one year and the Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings
in non-current liabilities are repayable in the second to third years.
As at 31 March 2012, the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of HK$552,147,000. During the year, the Group placed surplus
short term funds in short term currency-linked deposits and foreign
currency deposits with banks and incurred a net investment loss of
HK$4,341,000. As at 31 March 2012, no short term currency-linked
deposits were placed with banks. As at 31 March 2012, the Group had
no significant contingent liabilities.

STAFF EMPLOYMENT

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2012
was approximately 4,200. Remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market terms and individual qualifications.
Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on
performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, the Company repurchased certain of
its shares on the Stock Exchange. These shares were subsequently
cancelled by the Company after the end of the reporting period.

Shares were repurchased during the year under review pursuant to the
mandate granted by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held
on 18 August 2011, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a whole
by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share of
the Group.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

Details of the repurchase by the Company on the Stock Exchange
during the year ended 31 March 2012 were as follows:
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Number of 45 B¢ ik L 1 Total

shares repurchased Highest Lowest price paid

Date of repurchase JiE Il H 35 9 Bk ol JBE 3 %8 H WG 833139 O AT A A
HKS$ HK$ HK$’000
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27 March 2012 “R-HE=A-1+tH 108,000 1.96 1.94 212

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and internal controls. The audit committee comprises
the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, SBS, GBS, JP
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2012
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Corporate Governance Report

TEERKRE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2012.

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintain a
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders. The
Company believes that good corporate governance is essential to a
continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’ value. Throughout
the year under review, the Company has applied the principles of and
complied with most of the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules with the exception of code provisions A.4.1 and
A.4.2 of the CG Code which are explained below. The Company
periodically reviews its corporate governance practices with reference

to the latest development of corporate governance.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company

are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Responsibilities

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor

performance against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decisions
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and the financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises nine directors consisting of six
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board
and Board’s Committees as at 31 March 2012:

BB I bk L
Leung Mei Han _E E Nam Chi Ming, Gibson E E
30 Rk L
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter |} T
B E R
Tsunao Kijima
PNGE L

i i Executive Committee i i E E Audit Committee E E E E Remuneration Committee

I V1Y L wBERE BN LEY Y

E E Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) E E 1 Leung Mei Han (Chairperson) V1 1+ v Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* (Chairperson)

BETUIEY) L e ) L e ()

E E Wu Mei Yung, Quinly E E ' ! Chan Yuk Sang, Peter '+ ' ! Leung Mei Han

R ES Do b RS Y

E E Man Wing Cheung, Ellis E E ' ' Tsunao Kijima © ! ! Chan Yuk Sang, Peter*

DLSOk R IR L L B

i1 Yip Wai Keung P Lo

e G il

* With effect from 1 April 2012, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter has been * o2 —TENH—HE EAE S ERTS

P (5
HHAA L

Board of Directors

AT

Executive directors

HATHF

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)

WY ()

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Managing Director)

WA (HH )
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
KR

Yip Wai Keung

R

Wu Wing Biu

KRR

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
[N

Independent non-executive directors

_______________________________

Company Secretary

appointed as the chairman of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
in place of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly and Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
remains as a member of the Remuneration Committee.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to

the Listing Rules.

The relationship among some members of the Board are disclosed
under “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual

Report.

Board Meeting
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as

other significant matters.

The Board has convened four regular meetings during the year ended
31 March 2012 and the attendance record of each director is set out
below:

A (%)
WA ()

B (34 080 A SR A4 R IR B LRI Y
BLE S 6 T VAT 8% B4 BT A A ST RN

A B TR R B AR O A A i [ R )
BN B R E A ] R
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AR P9 R 9 B ik DA e % R AR 2 ] Y
R SR BRI A B e A A AR R A
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Number of regular Number of Average

Name of directors Board meetings attendance attendance rate
HPE L PR KY HIY /S RECH) ES
Executive directors BT &G
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen MR ()

(Chairman) 4 4 100%
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly B4

(Managing Director) (#HFH ) 4 4 100%
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis A HE 4 4 100%
Yip Wai Keung BRI 4 4 100%
Wu Wing Biu ik 4 4 100%
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [y 4 4 100%
Independent non-executive B Ik P AT R

directors
Leung Mei Han e 4 4 100%
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ 0 S 4 4 100%
Hiroshi Zaizen* S Bl 5+ 2 2 100%
Tsunao Kijima* NCY 2 2 100%
* Mr. Hiroshi Zaizen retired at the annual general meeting of the #* MEaiEEe N —2——8E))\H+/)\HEBFZAK

Company held on 18 August 2011.

Mr. Tsunao Kijima has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 9 July 2011.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms

of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
for comment within a reasonable time after each meeting and final

version is open for directors’ inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.

Directors’ Independence and Relationship

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors with at least one of
them possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or financial management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director
of his/her independence and the Company considers the existing
independent non-executive directors to be independent under the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to

the date of this Annual Report.

Biographical details and relevant relationships among the directors are
set out in the “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” section

in the Report of the Directors of this Annual Report.
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TEERKRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election
Appointment

Prior to the Company’s set up of a Nomination Committee during the
year under review, the Board was responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment
and succession planning of directors and assessing the independence of

independent non-executive directors.

The Board reviewed its own structure, size and composition regularly
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company.

The Board would carry out the selection process when there were
vacancies on the Board, by making reference to the skills, experience,
professional knowledge and personal integrity of the proposed
candidates, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory

requirements.

A Nomination Committee was established on 1 April 2012 with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority
and duties and is constituted by one executive director, namely Dr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two
independent non-executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han and
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election (continued)
Appointment (continued)

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing

and professional development to directors whenever necessary.

Re-election

In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), one-third of the directors for the time
being or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation for re-election by shareholders at annual general meeting,
such that every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least

once every three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, all
independent non-executive directors of the Company are not appointed
for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board considers that
sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the
CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
and shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that
such a deviation is not material as casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the

immediate following annual general meeting is short.
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TEERKRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Roles of Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly
hold the positions of Chairman and Managing Director, respectively.
Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in

writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. She is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions
from the Board.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees during the year under
review, namely the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and
the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. On 1 April 2012, the Nomination Committee
was established by the Board. All Board committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are available to shareholders upon

request.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established in July 2001 and all of its

members are executive directors.

The main duties and responsibilities of the Executive Committee
include approval and execution of the corporate guarantees to be
provided by the Company to individual bankers in respect of the
banking facilities granted to any member of the Group, including
wholly-owned subsidiaries, non-wholly-owned subsidiaries and
associated corporations within the meaning of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in July 2000 with specific
written terms of reference which set out its role and function and all
of its members are independent non-executive directors. One of them
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. As at the date of this Annual
Report, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao Kijima.

The Audit Committee will conduct, on behalf of the Board, an annual
review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function and

training programmes and budget.

The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, inter

alia, the following:

Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its

resignation or dismissal;

(b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in

accordance with applicable standards;

(c) to discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of the

audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

(d) to develop and implement policy on the engagement of external

auditor to supply non-audit services;

(e) to report to the Board, identifying and making recommendations

on any matters where action or improvement is needed;

Review of financial information of the Company

) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
review the annual and interim reports and accounts, and review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them

before submission to the Board;
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EXRER®E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system and

internal control procedures

(g)

(h)

()

@

(k)

@

(m)

()

(0)

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control

and risk management systems;

to discuss with the management the internal control system
to ensure that management has discharged its duty to have
an effective internal control system including the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and

financial reporting function;

to consider any findings of major investigations of internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own

initiative and management’s response;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors and to ensure that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and

practices;

to review the external auditor’s management letter, any
material queries raised by the external auditor to the
management in respect of the accounting records, financial

accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the

issues raised in the external auditor’s management letter;

to report to the Board on all matters set out in the code
provisions in relation to the Audit Committee contained in

Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules; and

to consider any other topics, specifically referred to the Audit

Committee by the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2012 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2011 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 of the Company. The
Audit Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2012 of the Group.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
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out below:

Name of the Number of Audit Number of Average
committee members Committee meetings attendance attendance rate
ZHABREAR FEEHRAaERY i) 2/ RECH) S
Leung Mei Han e ]

(Chairperson of the Audit Committee) (FHZEEGTEE) 2 2 100%
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ e 2 2 100%
Hiroshi Zaizen* VA iy o5 1 1 100%
Tsunao Kijima* NSE 1 1 100%
* Mr. Hiroshi Zaizen ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee at * WA RAER —F——FEN\A T /)\HEGFZRA

the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company on 18
August 2011.

Mr. Tsunao Kijima has been appointed as a member of the Audit
Committee with effect from 9 July 2011.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in September 2005 with
specific written terms of reference which set out its role and function
and is constituted by one executive director, namely Dr. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly (Chairperson of the Remuneration Committee) and two
independent non-executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han and
Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter. Since 1 April 2012, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang,
Peter has become the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly remains as a member of the Remuneration

Committee.
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TEERKRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee

include, inter alia, the following:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(©

()

(2)

(h)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for the remuneration and other remuneration
related matters for directors and senior management to ensure
there shall be a formal and transparent procedure for setting
policy on executive directors’ remuneration and for fixing the

remuneration packages for all directors;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and

objectives;

to have the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration package of all executive directors and senior
management, or make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and

senior management;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of

non-executive directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions

elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management in connection with any loss
or termination of their office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not

excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to

dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct; and

to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee had convened one meeting during

the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and

structure, and the remuneration of all directors for the year under

review. Details of the emoluments of each director of the Company are

set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2012

PR (A7)

WHEZHEE (4)

HMZEH e ()

FEE IR E L EA AT (P T4

JH .

(a)  BRAZ F] A N BOR T A DL M B
TR A5 B A LAt T TN A B R R e iR
H O > WEARAEHI BT AT I I T &
8 A N AL A O B IR SR BB W
F YA

(b) BEEFGZLETEKBE W A
B 2 WA

() HAKTWE BCEBATHESTLERE
I B AL > Sk B AT IR I
A PR B AL A T S e A

(d  HIERTEFZHFW A E T GREEE

(e)  FEFRBEAT ZMZHM - A BB ALZEfHE =2
R () R e 5 > DA M 4 B il Ik o = 0 P 5
PEAE %8 5

() HE Rt R AT ER KRR B B
2 B A 1 T s B AT T 2B AT 2 A T
RS E A AR — 8 FREERAH
ek —3 > WEFEARRAEBRZL

(g) 751 B b v B 35 T PR 4 K T 4R I B I 2= Ik
B L &

(h) TR T g ol AT AT I e A\ 1 2 B B

T e 5E -

HMEZETENGHM R IEN LA
135 ) T 1] AT B2 A 45 R % S8 T 1B SR 5 0 DA B 2
BRI o A T A% HE AR T 4 R SO A
5t kS



BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the
year are set out below:
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Name of the Number of Remuneration Number of Average
committee members Committee meetings attendance attendance rate
ZHABRHEAR FHMEHAaERKY HY /S F3y R R
Executive directors PAT G
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly* B A+

(Chairperson of the (#Z A & FH)

Remuneration Committee) 1 1 100%
Independent B AT g

non-executive directors
Leung Mei Han I 1 1 100%
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter* B Az 1 1 100%
* With effect from 1 April 2012, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter has become * o — AR H— HA o BB A

the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Dr. Wu Mei Yung,

Quinly remains as a member of the Remuneration Committee.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors of the Company (the “Code of
Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the
Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of Conduct
throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities Transaction
by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by the
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-
sensitive information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance
of the Employees Code by the employees was noted by the Company
throughout the year ended 31 March 2012.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2012. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2012, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Ernst
& Young (“E&Y?”), are set out in the Independent Auditors” Report on
pages 42 to 43 of this Annual Report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

External Auditor’s Remuneration

E&Y have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2011 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2012.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, E&Y received approximately
HK$2,250,000 (2011: HK$2,130,000) for audit and related services
and HK$456,000 (2011: HK$512,000) for other non-audit services
which include the taxation services.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal control
system to safeguard shareholders investments and the Company’s
assets and reviewing its effectiveness. The system has been designed
to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business objective.
Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement, loss or fraud. The Board has delegated
to the management the implementation of the strategies and policies on
internal controls and risk management adopted by the Board and the
review of relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and

risk management procedures.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal controls of the Group including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training

programmes and budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to
shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels,
which include interim and annual reports, announcements and

circulars.

The Company maintains a website at www.fourseasgroup.com.hk as
a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public

access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board and Board committees actively participate
in the annual general meeting and answer questions from the
shareholders. Notice of the annual general meeting is sent to the
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the meeting. All
resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings including the annual
general meeting will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and of the Company after each shareholder meeting.

Corporate Governance Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B %A A

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= K

To the shareholders of
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 44 to 159, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as at 31
March 2012, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and

other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2012
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= K

To the shareholders of
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2012, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 June 2012
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2012

2011

. St 2 i
Notes HKS$’°000 HK$’000
Mt W T T

REVENUE KA 5 2,789,334 2,561,847
Cost of sales BB R A (2,004,166) (1,869,685)
Gross profit EH 785,168 692,162
Other income and gains N ST 5 13,722 27,386
Selling and distribution expenses S K aiE (460,828) (398,931)
Administrative expenses 1B 2 (237,559) (201,252)
Other operating expenses HoAth 8 1 BA 52 (25,904) (25,565)
Finance costs il ¥ B AR 6 (16,808) (13,557)
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE Al Wit 2 A ] s A B g 18 9,741 10,451
PROFIT BEFORE TAX % BE 1 it A 7 67,532 90,694
Income tax expense Jir 49 8 B 2 10 (23,745) (17,961)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AR A i A 43,787 72,733
Attributable to: R

Equity holders of the Company Aoy w RERR T B 11 52,581 72,324

Non-controlling interests I B RE 25 (8,794) 409

43,787 72,733

EARNINGS PER SHARE AN BRI H HK cents HK cents

ATTRIBUTABLE TO WA 45 JBE 78 A A A

ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

— Basic and diluted — 3 A R il 13 13.5 18.5

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are

disclosed in note 12 to the financial statements.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mReEZERER

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=FA=+—HIFE

2012 2011
it St 3 R4
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
At it W T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AE A 43,787 72,733
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Fofib 2w e 2k Ol 4)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Available-for-sale investments: WAL R E
Changes in fair value A TE5 ) (25,039) (1,370)
Reclassification adjustments for HEAlamEZ W
gains/losses included in the & B Z BB
consolidated income statement EiE
— gain on disposal - HEZ W 5 (5,109) (6,310)
— impairment losses — A s 18 7 11,051 17,866
Income tax effect JoT 45 5t g 2% = =
(19,097) 10,186
Share of other comprehensive R A T 2 > ] G At 4 i WAL 2
income of associates 3,417 2,317
Exchange differences on translation e 55 A0 S s T 56 75
of foreign operations 14,944 17,833
Exchange reserve realised upon business PR EREF G Z
combination achieved in stages O E B L - (3,556)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE A R S0 2 2R O 1)
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR (BrBif%)
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (736) 26,780
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AR A 8 2 i O 2%
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 43,051 99,513
Attributable to: R
Equity holders of the Company AN R R % 11 50,953 98,947
Non-controlling interests I g2 I 2 (7,902) 566
43,051 99,513

Mmoo & B FER DA » =

g - =% %8 45
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

31 March 2012 R=FE—=—F=H=+—H

2012 2011
R e
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
At it W T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS U By
Property, plant and equipment LB & ] 14 569,189 557,661
Investment property ERd=g//ES 15 19,669 17,223
Prepaid land lease payments TH AT 4 Hb LB 3K0E 16 116,164 115,593
Goodwill [k 17 38,177 36,990
Non-current livestock EEMEE 18 119 425
Investments in associates REEAFRZRE 20 151,289 138,082
Available-for-sale investments kR 21 93,208 78,851
Deposits I 25 20,715 19,869
Deferred tax assets J8 8 0 29 1,281 1,281
Total non-current assets J 3 Bl B A 1,009,811 965,975
CURRENT ASSETS i B ¥
Due from associates 7 Wi Wi 7 2 ] 20 561 442
Current livestock HUBEE 22 3,647 4,034
Inventories ety 23 218,220 206,851
Trade receivables W W B 5 Rk 24 525,978 501,075
Prepayments, deposits TAT R ~ AT R
and other receivables At JRE WA K S 25 110,028 103,410
Tax recoverable W] Y 5] B E 5,451 4,281
Cash and cash equivalents B4 K Bl & S IE H 26 552,147 576,424
Total current assets A AR 1,416,032 1,396,517
CURRENT LIABILITIES L B 14
Trade payables, other payables JEAT B 5 MRk~ Al JE A
and accruals KOE K T £ 27 316,683 307,924
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR Z SR AT B 28 862,368 743,386
Tax payable JRE A B IE 20,909 10,873
Total current liabilities TEf AR 1,200,460 1,062,183
NET CURRENT ASSETS L W) B s i 215,572 334,334
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BRE 7 9 AL ) £ A5
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,225,383 1,300,309

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2012




2012

. St 2 — o o—ie
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
/A BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES IR B £ %
Interest-bearing bank borrowings A AT R B Z SR AT R 28 71,724 162,878
Deferred tax liabilities I JE A5 JE £ 29 17,822 17,702
Total non-current liabilities I i B £ R A 89,546 180,580
Net assets jagzekl 1,135,837 1,119,729
EQUITY i 2%
Equity attributable to equity B )8 % AR 4 W) A
holders of the Company UREALL &
Issued capital CE AT AR 30 39,070 39,070
Reserves it HE 32(a) 1,047,376 1,023,929
Proposed final dividend i T UL N 12 19,416 19,535
1,105,862 1,082,534
Non-controlling interests Fe e B bl 3% 29,975 37,195
Total equity HE 2 R84 1,135,837 1,119,729

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ 4% '
Director # F

YIP Wai Keung %5 %
Director # 3%

mNE®EAERAF ¢ =
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BRRA AT A%

Available-
for-sale
Share investment  Capital ~ Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluation  Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation — Retained final controlling Total
capital  account funds  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  dividend Total interests equity
Wik
o2 ey BUEM WAEW  EANH RN R
Bk RER RS THEE SRRE L L fit DRBIRA 3} FED e ERAR
Notes  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Wit BEFL ERFL BEELC BETL BEFL BWFL REFL BRFC BFTL BETL BFFL BEFL RRFL
(note 30) (note 3(a)) (note 32(a)) (note 32(a)
(Hitso) (Witsw) (Witow) (Hit32a)
At 1 April 2010 RZF-FENA-R 39074 22257 4852 25473 750 (5,429 882 70,619 632,700 19,537 1,011,030 10641 1,021,671
Profit for the year Lankiail - - - - - - - - 72324 - .34 409 72,7133
Other comprehensive LERUE ]
income/(loss) for the year: Wi/ (B#) «
Changes in fair value of b ERELATE
available-for-sale %8 (RHR)
investments, net of tax - - - - - 10,186 - - - - 10,186 - 10,186
Share of other comprehensive  HEA & A 7 Jfl
income of associates 2 = = = = = S S 2317 = = 2317 = 2317
Exchange reserve realised MREERER R
upon business combination T BE SR f
achieved in stages - - - - - - - (3,556) - - (3,556) - (3550
Exchange differences on EURTE
translation of foreign %%
operations - - - - - - - 17,676 - - 17,676 157 17,833
Total comprehensive income 4 A2 fdk
for the year - - - - - 10,186 - 16,437 T34 - 98,947 566 99,513
Acquisition of non-wholly-owned OB 3% % i 24 71
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - 25,638 25,638
Contribution by non-controlling ~ £ i 4 ¥ %
nterests - - - - - - - - - - - 350 350
Repurchase of shares e 30 ) (90) - - - - 4 - @) - (94) - (94)
Final 2010 dividend declared ~ EWR-F—FEXHKE - - = = - - - - 2 (1953T)  (19.535) - (19535)
Tnterim 2011 dividend “EEERE 1 - - - - - - - - (181 - (1819 - (1819
Proposed final 2011 dividend ~ ZZ——EREXHRE 12 - - - - - - - - (19535) 19535 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds BREMES - - 1,286 - - - - - (1,286) - - - -
Release of revaluation reserve & LM RHT 2
on leasehold land and EY
buildings to retained profits  {RE A - - - (535) - - - - 535 - - - -
At 31 March 2011 REF-—EZJ=F-H 39070 222,482% 6,138%  24938% 750% 4757* 886*  87,056*  676922¢ 19,535 1,082,534 37,195 1,119,729

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2012



BB A T A4

Available-
for-sale
Share investment  Capital ~ Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Reserve Revaluation ~ Capital revaluation redemption fluctuation — Retained final controlling Total
capital  account funds  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  dividend Total interests equity
Wik
(it 41} Rer SHEH SR ERYS EAAN FiR
Rk BB BEE ERRE  SkE Bl Rl Bl REEA R& it LI
Notes  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
Wit #NTT BRTT ENTT BWTT ENTT BNTT ERTT ENTT BRTT #NTT BRTL #NTT #RTT
(note 30) (note 3(a)) (note 32(a)) (note 32(a)
(Wits0) (Witsw) (Wetson) (Hitsz)
At 1 April 2011 REF——ENi—H 30070 222482 6,138 24938 750 4757 886 87,056 676922 19535 108253 37195 1119729
Profit for the year A = = - - = S S - 588l - 5881 8,794 43787
Other comprehensive LERUE ]
income/(loss) for the year: Wi/ (B#) «
Changes in fair value of b ERELATE
available-for-sale %8 (RHR)
investments, net of tax - - - - - (19,097 - - - - (19097 - (19097
Share of other comprehensive MM A A7 Z Ll
income of associates 2Tl - - - - - 5 S 3417 = = 3417 = 3417
Exchange differences on HSEINEB
translation of foreign %%
operations - - - - - - - 14,052 - - 14,052 892 14,944
Total comprehensive income ~ FA# 24
for the year - - - - - (19,097) - 17460 52581 - 50953 (1902) 43,01
Contribution by ERidId Thia
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - 1,764 1,764
Dividend paid to CRFPRERERRS
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (1,884)  (1,884)
Repurchase of shares not yet Bt i ek
cancelled 30 - - - - - - (212) - - - (212) - (212)
Final 2011 dividend declared ~ EVR-F——EAHKE - - = = - - - - - (19535)  (19.53) - (19535)
Interim 2012 dividend SE-CEMERE 1 - - - - - - - - (1814 - (1814 - (1819
Proposed final 2012 dividend ~ ZF—ZAERAKMEE 12 - - - - - - - - (19416) 19416 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds HRERES - - 401 - - - - - (401 - - - -
Disposal of an interest in Hh A A 2
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - (64) - (64) 802 738
Release of revaluation reserve A& LM R T2
on leasehold land and EY
buildings to retained profits  {RE A - - - (535) - - - - 535 - - - -
At 31 March 2012 REZZ-ZEZA=A-H 39,070 22248%  6,539% 24403 750%  (14,340)* 674 104525% 02,343 19416 1105862 29975 1135837
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * IR B R A SR A M B R UL R P 2 5 A
HKS$1,047,376,000 (2011: HK$1,023,929,000) in the consolidated 1,047,376,000% JG (=% — —4F : 1,023,929,000%
statement of financial position. Je) °
mN &£ B E R AR e =B - = F
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEHETRER

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=A=+—HIEE

2012 2011
e St 2 R4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M it BT BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING B X # P
ACTIVITIES ZBERE
Profit before tax Wi 5t i ¥z 1) 67,532 90,694
Adjustments for: R B & TE AR AR
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A Tk A ) ¥k R X e 4B 9,741) (10,451)
Bank interest income AT B WA 5 (1,085) (1,096)
Dividend income from listed A BT R EZ
available-for-sale investments BB WA 5 (1,866) (551)
Gains on disposal of available-for-sale HEWTHEEREZ
investments & 5 (5,109) (6,310)
Increase in fair value less estimated ERRIEE B ENE
point-of-sale costs attributable to 5 W) 22 o3 - {E 34
physical change on non-current WRFE T A
livestock 7 (15) (11)
Decrease in fair value less estimated 55 B R e W AR
point-of-sale costs attributable to B H) 2 A VAW
price change on non-current livestock WRTE T A 7 2 23
Finance costs Tl A 6 16,808 13,557
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of W W E -
property, plant and equipment T 55 B2 s M 2 e 4R 7 1,033 4,240
Depreciation e 7 51,937 44913
Recognition of prepaid land OB A L3
lease payments LB SKOE 7 3,272 2,955
Amortisation of non-current livestock EINC g ik ¥ 3] 7 15 144
Impairment of available-for-sale R Bt H B 2
investments 7 11,051 17,866
Revaluation of pre-existing interest Al BT B B R A ]
in acquired subsidiaries to fair value CHEMEREATHE 5 = (4,012)
Gain on a bargain purchase EAER e 5 - (3,892)
Impairment of trade receivables JRE Wt 58 5 W 3K B 7 3,680 1,946
Impairment of slow-moving inventories w8 17 B W 7 1,275 1,256
Fair value gain on an investment property 3% & ¥ 3% 2 2 P %% 5 (1,824) (1,159)
136,965 150,112
Decrease in non-current livestock FEEMBEZ WS 321 156
Increase in amounts due from associates JE WX 2 O\ W) =2 B (119) (73)
Decrease in current livestock HHEE WA 387 178
Increase in inventories FEZHm (10,841) (12,089)
Increase in trade receivables JRE W B 5 Rk <z B (26,241) (58,247)
Increase in prepayments, deposits AT ~ AT R HoAth
and other receivables R WLk I = 384 (6,162) (8,052)
Increase in trade payables, other JE AT B 5 Rk~ At
payables and accruals A SR T R 2 B 2,289 2,778
Cash generated from operations REXEBMBZEHE 96,599 74,763
Hong Kong profits tax paid O & W A 1580 (13,284) (15,535)
Overseas taxes paid A At i JE (2,556) (6,029)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBEMBZHSRAGFH
— page 51 -51H 80,759 53,199

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2012




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERETRER

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=FA=+—HIFE

2012 2011
it St 3 R4
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
At it W T BT T
Net cash flows from operating activities REEBEMBZESWMAGTH
— page 50 -50H 80,759 53,199
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BERHZBERHE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received CBERIT R B 1,085 1,096
Dividends received from listed investments I T #& % 2 & B U A 1,866 551
Dividends received from associates W BRI 7 4 6] % 8 2,919 2,681
Purchases of items of property, plant AP~ B K&
and equipment WHIEE (52,552) (52,178)
Purchases of prepaid land lease payments i A 78 £ 1+ Hu #l & 5 08 - (120)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, H &3 ~ M5 & &k
plant and equipment T H 45 5k 125 7,108
Proceeds from disposal of g gt B
available-for-sale investments B8 3K I 28,079 64,010
Acquisition of subsidiaries e i i T 2 ) 33 = 13,343
Proceed from disposal of an interest in Hh 85 B 2 ) HE 25 T A5 K I
a subsidiary 738 -
Capital contributions to an associate WY TS AF (3,108) -
Purchases of available-for-sale investments Ji A B i i £ & & (67,475) (79,608)
Net cash flows used in investing activities & ¥ 2 Bl & F# (88,323) (43,117)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ¥ %82 Bl & i it
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans B BRAT AR K AR R 1,549,804 1,185,654
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans #R 47 B3k & 15 78 Bk (1,526,262) (1,094,683)
Z IR
Interest paid AT A (16,808) (13,557)
Contribution by non-controlling interests  JE$5 A 25 1 & 1,764 350
Dividends paid oA S (27,349) (27,349)
Dividends paid to non-controlling CAT T I i B Je e G
shareholders (1,884) -
Repurchase of shares i 1] JB¢ oy (212) (94)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing MEFHZBHERA
activities (3t t) F (20,947) 50,321
Mo ®mARAR - =T - =% 5



2012 2011
. St 2 i
Notes HKS$°000 HK$’000
/A BT BT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN B RBAESHEA
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Bim,/ (WA) 58 (28,511) 60,403
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ERZ B R AEMEEA
of year 576,424 509,260
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ R 5 By 2 » H4H 4,234 6,761
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS KRB ERB S MM H
AT END OF YEAR 552,147 576,424
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF B R ESFHMA S
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2z H
Cash and bank balances Bl T RAT S5 47 26 287,900 296,821
Time deposits with original maturity JEABHH AR =MA
of less than three months Z TR
when acquired 26 264,247 279,603
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FRa M EIR PR K
in the consolidated statement of HAEBERER
financial position and the iz Bie Rk
consolidated statement of cash flows B4e%EEA 552,147 576,424
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- 2012 2011
. St 2 e
Notes HKS$’°000 HK$’000
Mt W T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS R W) ¥
Investments in subsidiaries Mg AR 2 B E 19 93,108 93,108
Available-for-sale investments AL R 21 152 231
Total non-current assets I Bl A 93,260 93,339
CURRENT ASSETS Ui By A
Due from subsidiaries JRE Wi Y g 2 ) 19 615,653 587,292
Prepayments TEAT R IE 25 46 143
Cash and bank balances B4 M SRAT S5 % 26 463 306
Total current assets i B A 616,162 587,741
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B £ 4
Due to subsidiaries JE A WY i 2 W) 19 369,600 341,543
Accruals HE A 27 1,097 922
Total current liabilities i B AR A 370,697 342,465
NET CURRENT ASSETS Ui B 245,465 245,276
Net assets G 338,725 338,615
EQUITY HE 2%
Issued capital CEEAT B AR 30 39,070 39,070
Reserves fiti fh 32(b) 280,239 280,010
Proposed final dividend R i B 12 19,416 19,535
Total equity HE £i A8 AH 338,725 338,615

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen 375 '
Director & *

YIP Wai Keung 3 f# ¥

Director #H

mN & E AR
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered
office of the Company is located at the offices of Caledonian
Trust (Cayman) Limited, Caledonian House, 69 Dr. Roy’s
Drive, P.O. Box 1043 KY1-1102, George Town, Grand Cayman,

Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted of
the manufacturing and trading of snack foods, confectionery,
beverages, frozen food products, noodles, poultry products, ham

and ham-related products, and the operations of restaurants.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain non-
current livestock, an investment property, certain properties,
derivative financial instruments, a club debenture and certain
available-for-sale investments, which have been measured at
valuation or fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2012.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions

and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed
to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as

appropriate.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
HKFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Limited
Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters
HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Amendments

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
issued in May 2010

Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 1
and HKAS 27 included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2010, the
adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant

financial effect on these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

(b)

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions
of related parties. The new definitions emphasise a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify
the circumstances in which persons and key management
personnel affect related party relationships of an entity.
The revised standard also introduces an exemption
from the general related party disclosure requirements
for transactions with a government and entities that are
controlled, jointly controlled or significant influenced
by the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised to
reflect the changes in the definitions of related parties
under the revised standard. The adoption of the revised
standard did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group. Details of the related party
transactions, including the related comparative information,
are included in note 37 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets
out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While the
adoption of some of the amendments may result in changes
in accounting policies, none of these amendments has had
a significant financial impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group. Details of the key amendments
most applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: The amendment
clarifies that the amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS
32 and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for
contingent consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business combinations
whose acquisition dates precede the application of
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as follows:

(continued)

(b) (continued)

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: (continued)

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interests.
Only the components of non-controlling interests
that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or at the present ownership instruments’
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced and

voluntarily replaced share-based payment awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
The amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can be
presented either in the statement of changes in equity
or in the notes to the financial statements. The Group
elects to present the analysis of each component
of other comprehensive income in the statement of

changes in equity.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and HKAS
31 shall be applied prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier if HKAS 27
is applied earlier.
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2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

2.3 CL Al 1H g R A 22 7 8 WA 5
o M

A5 [0 3 AR 7 A B 2 4% e B DA AR A
I A A 28 AT T e A T A v T e YR )

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time T B AR5 (BT &) 15 87 7 s 7 e 5 e
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial BUREARDE#
Reporting Standards — Severe Vg x /e &
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Vil Ve L
Dates for First-time Adopters'! A E A

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time T 5 s o 501 5% (1837 ) T 7 Vs A e 5 2 )
Adoption of Hong Kong Financial BUSEAFRGE Y

Reporting Standards — Government

HHEER - B

Loans *

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial T W 5 5 M A B0 8% (1837 ) BT 7 v B A e 5 2 )
Instruments: Disclosures — Transfers of BIEEHITA  HE
Financial Assets' -HALMEE

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial T i 53 M A B 78% (1837 ) T 7 Vs B A 6 S )
Instruments: Disclosures — Offsetting BN EH A -
Financial Assets and Financial WA 2HEEREH
Liabilities * A

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments Tl I o o A SH 0 EHTAS

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements * MBI 105 HEMBHE

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements * BB 198 Al

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities * il e AL RAMERZ 2 HF

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement * Tl B B A 2 135 Vd Gig

HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Tl s A 5 (BT k) LTERS Eikd B
Financial Statements — Presentation of HHEREZ ZI AN
Items of Other Comprehensive Income * 2HRATHZ 29

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes — Bl e TR 125 (BT A) CHER g
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying BVRA R - B
Assets ® B R F

HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits * FUREHEAIS 0% (2 ——8)  FEHA"

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements * TG RAE L (CF——4 BUHBHE

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associates and Joint FBGih RS (CE——4 REERGREE R
Ventures * ZHE

HKAS 32 Amendments

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial

Instruments: Presentation — Offsetting

il o R A28 (BT K)

{1 i it U 53058
2HIA : 2I)-H4

Financial Assets and Financial HEEERYBEAR
Liabilities *
HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of b (BB B FXTRHGEEREZ
a Surface Mine * RBEZEE) -RBH0% HRHA
Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 - AR T B ER G
Project 2011 Cycle * “FFhEE
ZF Y2
ERLE
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2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
G Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

Further information about those changes that are expected to

significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of
a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets.
Instead of classifying financial assets into four categories, an
entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. This aims to improve and simplify the approach for the
classification and measurement of financial assets compared with
the requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9
to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated
in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were
made to the measurement of financial liabilities designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option
(“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in
the fair value of a liability that is attributable to changes in
credit risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
(“OCI”). The remainder of the change in fair value is presented
in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change
in respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have been

designated under the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2015.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 UL A AE R A B2 7 s B s

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to
all entities including special purpose entities or structured
entities. It includes a new definition of control which is used
to determine which entities are consolidated. The changes
introduced by HKFRS 10 require management of the Group
to exercise significant judgement to determine which entities
are controlled, compared with the requirements in HKAS 27
and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities.
HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements that addresses the accounting
for consolidated financial statements. It also includes the issues
raised in HK(SIC)-Int 12.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint
arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two forms
of joint arrangements, i.e. joint operations and joint ventures,
and removes the option to account for joint ventures using

proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities that are
previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also introduces a number

of new disclosure requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS
28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11,
HKFRS 12, and the consequential amendments to HKAS 27 and
HKAS 28 from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements
for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the
circumstances in which the Group is required to use fair value,
but provides guidance on how fair value should be applied where
its use is already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April
2013.
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2.31ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items presented
in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or
loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition
or settlement) would be presented separately from items which
will never be reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the

amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred tax
for investment properly measured at fair value. The amendments
introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on
investment property measured at fair value should be determined
on the basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through
sale. Furthermore, the amendments incorporate the requirement
previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21 Income Taxes — Recovery of
Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation model in
HKAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis. The Group
expects to adopt HKAS 12 Amendments from 1 April 2012.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-
wording. The revised standard introduces significant changes
in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans including
removing the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains
and losses. Other changes include modifications to the timing of
recognition for termination benefits, the classifications of short-
term employee benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans.
The Group expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 April 2013.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain

benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary, in which the
Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to

exercise significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition
results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs are

expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts by the acquiree.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date

through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which
is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change
in other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the
contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of HKAS

39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of

the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, livestock, financial assets, an investment
property and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset,
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEGHEOR R (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) (continued)
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity or of a parent of the entity.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the income statement in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets

with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amounts in
the financial statements relating to periods ended before 30
September 1995 are not required to be regularly revalued when
the Group does not revalue their property, plant and equipment
subsequent to 1995. An annual transfer from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is

transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance leases Over the lease terms

Buildings 2% — 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% — 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% — 25%
Plant and machinery 10% — 20%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction
during the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment property

An investment property is an interest in land and building
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the investment property is stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
investment property are included in the income statement in the

year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of the
investment property are recognised in the income statement in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant

periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to the
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases are charged to the income statement on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and

buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables, and available-for-sale financial investments or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
amounts due from associates, trade and other receivables,

deposits and available-for-sale investments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the
financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS
39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the income statement. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with

the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial

recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell them
in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets. The reclassification from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets. This evaluation
does not affect any financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss using the fair value option at designation as

these instruments cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in other income and gains in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income
statement in finance costs for loans and in other operating

expenses for receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and a
club debenture. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor

designated at fair value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the income statement in other income,
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve to the income statement in
other operating expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst
holding the available-for-sale financial investments are reported
as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the income statement as other income in accordance

with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,

such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets
and management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the

maturity date of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective
interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be
impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the

income statement.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised

when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has

retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of

consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation
and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or

economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not

included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current

effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together
with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been

realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the

recovery is credited to the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not

reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is

impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income

statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “’prolonged” requires
judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there
is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the income statement — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available
for sale are not reversed through the income statement. Increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in

other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the

classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
plus, in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable

transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables and other

payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings.
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Bt % W& MY

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=A=+—HIEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 EEEGHEOR R (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate

amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount
of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if,
and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument which
is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and

option pricing models.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group invests in certain derivative financial instruments,
such as currency-linked deposits, to enhance its investment
return. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. Any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken

directly to the income statement.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury shares)
are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in the income statement on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any
difference between the carrying amount and the consideration is

recognised in equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Livestock

Livestock are stated at fair value less estimated point-of-sale
costs, except where the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in
which case they are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. The fair value of livestock is
determined based on market prices of livestock of similar age,
breed and genetic merit.

Net increments or decrements in the fair value of livestock are
included in the income statement, and are determined as:

(a) the difference between the total fair value of the livestock
recognised at the beginning of the financial year and the
total fair value of the livestock recognised at the end of the

financial year; and

(b) the costs incurred, during the financial year the livestock are

acquired and bred.

Non-current livestock stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses, represent breeder peafowls and are

amortised over ten years using the sum-of-digits method.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of work in progress and self-produced
finished goods, cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overhead. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including

term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and

practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit

nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same

taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive

payment has been established;

(d) management fee income, in the period in which services are
rendered; and

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease

terms.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 10% to 22% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-

settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model or the Black-

Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense

recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or

service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a

liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. All differences arising on settlement or

translation of monetary items are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non-
monetary item is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
differences on item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in

other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As
at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period and their income statements are translated into Hong Kong

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income

statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2012

2.4 BREuHBORBIE (5)

Lilid

S 5 T DA T (BDAC 4 W] 2 D e e 2 4R 8
W) BB o A R A& A F BT A S Z e
W o T EE A A E R Z I H T3 A
FE W I R B o AR [ A O 8k Z S R B
B VA2 5 H W55 45 B 2 o R B B R gk o
DIAM I HE < B0 o U SRR IR Z
MER PR S T BB o AL MBI H
Fiv B A Z B A 26 W wE AR R o

DAAI S JEE s AR it 53 2 I 45 W OH #0138 5
BHZ MRS - DM A PR Z IR
TH H A A PR B Z MR o BT
FER I H A A W B o R H AT
e 528 T8 W) 8 s — B 5 9 e B (B LR 4
S 20 M 7 L At 2 T A G A A R Y > A
SR ZE TR 3 S0 A 2 v e A B A 2 T D) o

A TR A B 2 ) % B 2 W] 2 o e I
Wt o REH IR » %% A 2 B E KRR
W IR Z ERBE AR AR Z ZFEW > W
B 25 2 TG HEAR N Z RE - 32 B R R T

P45 Hh M 5 208 ) % B A 2 T Wi B R o I B
S B A R AL o BEA A RIS A B A
SE A B 3 25 B 2 A 2 i W 2 8 4 A B
o e S o

PRI WAL ¥ A/ S 785 T A T > DL O T
ez S AR Z MR E AT AP fE R 8 - R
PN HGANER 2 B S B > WA RS H B o



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on

the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the Group
has to exercise judgement in the area of asset impairment,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred that
may affect the asset value or such event affecting the asset value
has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate
rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management to
determine the level of impairment, including the discount rates or
the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the impairment
test.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. BEGEABEAME (5)

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment. For the purposes of impairment reviews, the
recoverable amount of goodwill is determined based on value-
in-use calculations or market valuations. The value-in-use
calculations and market valuations primarily use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
and estimated terminal value at the end of the budget period,
by reference to prior years’ performance, current business
plans and market development expectations. There are also a
number of estimates involved in the preparation of cash flow
projections for the period covered by the approved budgets. Key
estimates include expected growth in revenues and gross margin,
timing of future capital expenditure, and selection of discount
rates to reflect the risks and cost of capital involved. Changes
to these key judgement and estimates could materially affect
the determination of whether there is an impairment and the
related amounts. If there are significant adverse changes in the
aforementioned judgement and estimates, it may be necessary
to record significant additional impairment charge in future
periods. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2012 was
HK$38,177,000 (2011: HK$36,990,000).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating
to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2012 was HK$415,000
(2011: HK$415,000). The amounts of unrecognised tax losses
for subsidiaries situated in Hong Kong and Mainland China at 31
March 2012 were HK$113,678,000 (2011: HK$89,009,000) and
HK$176,688,000 (2011: HK$149,798,000), respectively. Further
details of the Group’s deferred tax are contained in note 29 to the

financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of available-for-sale investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available for sale and
recognises movements of their fair values in equity. When the
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the
decline in value to determine whether there is an impairment that
should be recognised in the income statement. During the year, an
impairment loss of HK$11,051,000 (2011: HK$17,866,000) had
been recognised for available-for-sale investments. The carrying
amount of available-for-sale investments was HK$93,208,000
(2011: HK$78,851,000).

Impairment of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables

The Group conducts impairment reviews of financial assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with
the relevant accounting standards. Determining whether an asset
is impaired requires an estimation of the future cash flows and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
the Group would be required to revise the basis of making
the allowance and its future results would be affected. At 31
March 2012, an aggregate impairment of trade receivables of
HK$6,196,000 (2011: HK$3,364,000) has been made and the
carrying amounts of trade receivables were HK$525,978,000
(2011: HK$501,075,000). At 31 March 2012, the carrying
amounts of deposits and other receivables were HK$81,251,000
(2011: HK$51,173,000) and no impairment loss was made.

Notes to Financial Statements
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3. Bk A B & A (A7)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on geographical areas and has two reportable

operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, ham and ham-related products, noodles and
the retailing of snack foods, confectionery and beverages,

and the operations of restaurants; and

(ii) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, poultry products, and ham and ham-related

products, noodles and the operations of restaurants.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The
adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with
the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that interest income,
dividend income and unallocated gains, impairment of available-
for-sale investments, revaluation of pre-existing interest in
acquired subsidiaries to fair value, a gain on a bargain purchase,
finance costs, share of profits and losses of associates and
corporate and other unallocated expenses are excluded from such

measurement.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments, deferred
tax assets, tax recoverable, investments in associates and cash and

cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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4. BRI WER (B)

Geographical segments It B, 23 B
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
W =il o K B L
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
SRk DR SR-TF Z%—F SRSk DR f
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BWTL  EB¥FL BW¥Tr #BWFTL BWTx BFFI
Segment revenue: WA
Sales to external customers WETIMRER 1,818,989 1,708,581 970,345 853,266 2,789,334 2,561,847
Intersegment sales S 2,029 6,002 216,508 149,596 218,537 155,598
1,821,018 1,714,583 1,186,853 1,002,862 3,007,871 2,717,445
Reconciliation: HHe -

Elimination of intersegment sales V49 K B

Revenue KA

Segment results Vg F 3

Reconciliation: i‘?‘_ﬁ% :

Interest income FBBA

Dividend income and unallocated it B A B A 43 T
gains Bt

Impairment of available-for-sale AL RE 2 WA
investments

Gain on a bargain purchase EAEUEN

Revaluation of pre-existing interest in T il Bt Wit I Fff Jg§ 2 ] © &
acquired subsidiaries to fair value MR EATH

Finance costs A

Share of profits and losses AL W ) 6 ) R A 4R
of associates

Corporate and other unallocated O] RS A R 43 T B X

€xpenses

Profit before tax Wi 5 ¥

(218,537) (155,598)

2,789,334 2,561,847

100,906 108,043 (3,091) (2,348) 97,815 105,695
1,085 1,096
2,634 9,183

(11,051) (17,866)
- 3,892

- 4,012
(16,808) (13,557)

9,741 10,451

(15,884) (12,212)

67,532 90,694
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

4. BRI WER (B)

Geographical segments (continued) Tt B 2y B (48)
Group Hong Kong Mainland China Total
£ | ik il PN At
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
S-Sl -4 DRk C%——4 Z%-TkF —%2——4
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
#BWTL  EWFFL EWTEL  #¥FTT BEFTE B¥FTT
Segment assets Vs 3:0:3 1,017,090 1,034,813 786,137 762,417 1,803,227 1,797,230
Reconciliation: % :
Elimination of intersegment VA 0 O Wk T G 8
receivables (180,760) (233,657)
Investments in associates REE AR Z % E 151,289 138,082
Corporate and other unallocated A R A4
assets i 652,087 660,837
Total assets B A 2,425,843 2,362,492
Segment liabilities Vg =N 230,141 239,925 267,302 301,656 497,443 541,581
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment payables [ 35 HE i 2K JA 15 84 (180,760) (233,657
Corporate and other unallocated A RHA A 4
liabilities A 973,323 934,839
Total liabilities ARARE 1,290,006 1,242,763
Other segment information: oAby HERE
Impairment of trade receivables JE W B 5 M ok ok £ 3,414 17 266 1,929 3,680 1,946
Impairment of slow-moving R WA
inventories 431 136 844 1,120 1,275 1,256
Depreciation and amortisation®** 4 # K # g 17,067 16,195 38,142 31,673 55,209 47,868
Capital expenditure* A 15,457 17,993 37,095 61,496 52,552 79,489
Non-current assets** Je i By 206,499 204,649 540,125 526,505 746,624 731,154
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * HEAPH AR B R R s i AT L

equipment, prepaid land lease payments and investment property,

including assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

#*  Non-current assets exclude financial instruments, deferred tax assets

and investments in associates.

Depreciation and amortisation exclude amortisation of non-current

livestock.
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S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS

Notes to Financial Statements
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BeA ~ J0 A BN B e g

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the

invoiced value of goods sold, net of discounts and returns. An

S

W A B A 4R T 2 7 SR SR R 5 i BB AR
B B B S o O - B MO S e R

analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: ZMmE
Group
E S|
2012 2011
R L R
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
w ik T T
Revenue WA 2,789,334 2,561,847
Other income Ho b A
Bank interest income SRATA BB A 1,085 1,096
Dividend income from listed et EiE

available-for-sale investments B B A 1,866 551
Management fee income HHE WA 162 566
Rental income LA 1,873 1,786
Others H At 6,144 5,692

11,130 9,691
Gains W g
Investment gains/(losses), net* WEWE (B » FHE (4,341) 2,322
Fair value gain on an investment property % & %) € A TV W 25 15 1,824 1,159
Gains on disposal of available-for-sale e R E 2K

investments (H 8 IR [ R 25 8 )

(transfer from equity on disposal) 5,109 6,310
Gain on a bargain purchase ERELER - 3,892
Revaluation of pre-existing interest A BT R B A W e

in acquired subsidiaries to fair value HEZS A A - 4,012

2,592 17,695
13,722 27,386
* Investment gains/(losses), net comprise net losses from currency- * B@EWE S ER) - FHAOKEEHAGER

linked deposits of HK$2,995,000 (2011: HK$3,331,000) and net
exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents of HK$1,346,000
(2011: net exchange gains of HK$5,653,000).

g

B 5 1H2,995,0008 76 (= F ——4 £ 3,331,000
WoL) KB RBLEFMEE X5 LG
$H1,346,000% 6 (=2 — —4F [ LK 2%

5,653,000 7G) °

N & B EFER DA » =
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. FINANCE COSTS 6. E AR

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: g A A R
Group
30|
2012 2011
—®-s e
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT X
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans AR N YR Z BT RRR
wholly repayable within five years (EEILIE 3~ & @il 16,808 13,557
7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BB i e A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AR Z BB A TR (A
(crediting):
Group
E |
2012 2011
it 2t 2 —E -
Notes HK$°000 HKS$’000
Wt it BT W T
Cost of inventories sold CEEEZBEA 2,002,891 1,868,429
Depreciation e 14 51,937 44,913
Amortisation of prepaid land lease AT A ERIEZ
payments 1 5 16 3,272 2,955
Amortisation of non-current livestock El ik % 3 18 15 144
Minimum lease payments under T REFREMEZ
operating leases in respect of land AR 4
and buildings 134,328 113,239
Auditors’ remuneration % B N 4 2,813 2,553
Employee benefit expense (excluding 8 5 %8 A B 52 (A B4
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): A A (M AES))
Wages, salaries, allowances and TH® -~ #i& - MR
benefits in kind T A 243,052 215,375
Pension scheme contributions R N i R 12,910 11,315
Less: Forfeited contributions s W lml Bk (561) (593)
Net pension scheme contributions** TR IR 4 ) b R O 12,349 10,722
255,401 226,097
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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7. BRBEW & A (%)

Group
e |
2012 2011
S S
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Mt it T T BT T
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of e M~ R &
property, plant and equipment R IE H 2 B 1,033 4,240
Foreign exchange differences, net [ 5626 5 > WA (4,299) 4,112
Rental income on an investment property 4% & ¥ 3 2 #l & W A W B #
less direct operating expenses & ¥ B 52.629,000% ¢
of HK$629,000 (2011: HK$592,000) (ZF——4 1 592,000 7C) (1,244) (1,194)
Impairment of available-for-sale W gt 8 e
investments* 11,051 17,866
Decrease/(increase) in fair value less ANFAEWA () 9% 78 5
estimated point-of-sale costs H B IRF 2 o A £ B o Y
attributable to:
— physical change on non-current - FEHBEZWHZE
livestock 18 (15) (11)
— price change on non-current —EMEE Z EMsEE)
livestock 18 2 23
Revaluation of pre-existing interest HAGTBUEIE AR OF
in acquired subsidiaries to fair value® RE 25 2 A T fEA = (4,012)
Gain on a bargain purchase” AU €T 33 - (3,892)
Impairment of trade receivables* JE W B 5 B ok Dl A 24 3,680 1,946
Impairment of slow-moving T 5 A7 B DA
inventories*** 1,275 1,256
* The impairment of available-for-sale investments and impairment of * F A £ B 2k D M B B Mk A

trade receivables are included in “Other operating expenses” in the

consolidated income statement.

#% At 31 March 2012, the Group had forfeited contributions
of HK$561,000 (2011: HK$593,000) available to reduce its

contributions to the pension scheme in future years.

##%  Impairment of slow-moving inventories is included in “Cost of
sales” in the consolidated income statement.
A Revaluation of pre-existing interest in acquired subsidiaries to

fair value and a gain on a bargain purchase are included in “Other

income and gains” in the consolidated income statement.

Mmoo & B FER DA » =

Hk

BIFER AWML EZ T EEZ N -

MR- HEZAZT—H o ARG Z W
#K561,000% 70 (—F——4F : 593,000%70) 7 H
AR WA AR 2 47 AR AR & 5 B Bk ko

JRA A o

oo B B RE D AR A SRR B TaE

Al i 0 S T A ) A R A R
Wt BRI A A R B2 TH e A K ik
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TORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”) and the disclosure requirements of Section 161 of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

o g0

NI LT WIS 2 A RAFE ([
2R ) iz LR (T B SR ) R A H
WA 55 1614 Z 45 88 L A 4 °F e

2012 2011

S S

HKS$°000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Fees i 740 720

Other emoluments: oAl 4 -

Salaries, allowances and benefits e K EYA R

in kind 7,724 7,717

Pension scheme contributions BAR A w3 2 Atk 218 206

7,942 7,923

8,682 8,643

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) W HE#ifrad

FRNCRTELIERTERZAEWT ¢

2012 2011

—% - —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T T T

Leung Mei Han LS 80 80
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Bl £ A= 80 80
Hiroshi Zaizen NP 40 80
Tsunao Kijima A B 4 60 -
260 240

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2011: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. W4 (4)
(continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) BATHEF
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind  contributions remuneration
WA~ HW Wbk gt
wWeE  REDHLRE Z % i 48 751
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

BT BT BT BT

2012 it St 3
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Wiy 80 3,840 4 3,924
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly B 80 1,170% 63 1,313
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCKAE 80 - 4 84
Yip Wai Keung R 80 722 40 842
Wu Wing Biu W1 KA 80 924 50 1,054
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [y 80 1,068 57 1,205
480 7,724 218 8,422
2011 B
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen s 80 3,840 4 3,924
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WA 80 1,216 59 1,355
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis SCAK HE 80 - 4 84
Yip Wai Keung BERR 80 722 40 842
Wu Wing Biu WK 80 931 48 1,059
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ 80 1,008 51 1,139
430 7,717 206 8,403
Included in the executive directors’ remuneration is an HITEFWEe P UFEAREEES LA — 4
estimated rental of HK$3,840,000 (2011: HK$3,840,000) for #3215 4 B AL 22 A EHRL 423,840,000
a director’s quarter owned by the Group. WL (ZF——4 : 3,840,000%C) ©
*  No discretionary bonus is included in the above salaries, ko BT - HER S B R A I A I
allowances and benefits in kind (2011: HK$126,000). TBAL (R ——4 : 126,000¥7C) °
#%  No discretionary bonus is included in the above salaries, R A - HE S B R A N A A I
allowances and benefits in kind (2011: HK$60,000). AL (ZR——4 : 60,000¥7C) °
##% Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind sk ALERRY FARFE A - HUE K B A 2% 05 19
is a discretionary bonus of HK$120,000 (2011: HK$60,000). A6 A1120,000% 76 (= F — —4F : 60,000
JC) °
There was no arrangement under which a director waived RN o 2% SN AR R AT AL B S s
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2011: HHEERME (R4 &) o
Nil).
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2011: four) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining one
(2011: one) non-director, highest paid employee for the year are
as follows:

9. A 567 B 3se 5 e

FEWN> ALHT R ER GENAESR (CF
AR L) > A E S e TR B
WiffE 8 o R —fr (ZF——4 : —fL) JR#EHF
Fe i W doc v U B I w1 0 R

Group
S

2012 2011
R R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT oo
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 37 4 ~ H: I K B9 Fl 2% 1,015 995
Pension scheme contributions B4 T B =Z Bk 51 45
1,066 1,040

The highest paid non-director employee whose remuneration
fell within the band of HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2011:
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000).

10. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2011: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

FMmxEIEEHIER Z B4 A F1,000,001
0 21,500,000 w2 AR (ZF——4:
1,000,001 G %1,500,0004 5T ) ©

10. i 13- B

TV ) 2380 % Hic A7 A A o BT B A A T R
BLia R #216.5% (ZF——4 1 16.5%)Z BL KAk
R o KL Al b [ 2 R SRR Yk ) % R A 4
RBEBGZER RS EZBTRRE -

Group
3]
2012 2011
S R
HK$’000 HK$°000
1 T 1T
Current — Hong Kong - B
Charge for the year AR AR B Bl IH 17,523 16,632
Current — Elsewhere HH — At b
Charge for the year A A JiE B IH 6,648 3,382
Overprovision in prior years A A AP R0 I AR 9) (177)
Deferred (note 29) AEIE (M it29) (417) (1,876)
Total tax charge for the year AR B 2 MR E S 23,745 17,961
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. i 2B (48)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax FAR A 0 W) Jo 2L 32 B A ® BT FE B R W)
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the VA W [ 2 3 E B R A L RS Bk B i ¥k
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to Z B IE S % D) EE R R R T S 2 B I X
the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of R > ARGBEHBLR (P EfiR) HERARZ
the applicable rate (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax HHEWM T :

rate, are as follows:

Group
£
2012 2011
“g S
HKS$’000 % HK$’000 %
BT BT T

Profit before tax Wi B A i 1 67,532 90,694
Tax at applicable tax rates e B Rt BLH 10,073 14.9 15,263 16.8
Adjustments in respect of current i) 2 B AR )

tax of previous periods EE 9) - (177) 0.2)
Profits and losses attributable JRE A Wik 2 2 ) ¥ A

to associates Bl 1 (1,840) 2.7 (2,363) (2.6)
Income not subject to tax THRBLZ WA (3,183) 4.7) (4,495) (5.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax AL A B I 40 2 3 2,551 3.8 1,830 2.0
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the T HIBE5% ¥ A 4L E

distributable profits of the Group’s TR e B A e B

Mainland China subsidiaries YNEIPAR

i fl 2 8 - - (879) (1.0)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B FiJ 4 13 3] ] Z 8 7} 4 (2,609) (3.9) (3,060) (3.4)
Deferred tax assets not recognised KRR Z EAERLIE G & 14,803 21.9 11,777 13.0
Others oAl 3,959 5.9 65 0.2
Tax charge at the Group’ s effective rate XA SR [ B PR Bl R 51 5
ZBH 23,745 352 17,961 19.8

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to JRE A Wi 5 o W] 2 Bt I 363,576,000 7C (— &
HK$3,576,000 (2011: HK$2,896,000) is included in “Share ——4F 1 2,896,000%00) AR G R
of profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated income Z [ AL TG 8 A W e A R s 48 1 A o
statement.
Certain subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China are entitled S 4 T Hp B K e A BRI 2 R RS S R T
to preferential tax rates granted by relevant authorities to these A2 T BB o
subsidiaries.

Mm% m e R LA e =T — =fF F£8% 97
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11. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2012 includes a profit for
the year of HK$27,750,000 (2011: HK$31,370,000) which has

been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note

11 A2 il B 4 Jor A7 5 MG A ik )

BEZ ==+ HILFEEZAAHE
WE 25 BT A & WE Al A% A ¥ A 2 5527,750,000%5 76
(ZF——4 : 31,370,000 50) » B AARA
] Z B 5 R (B RE32(b)) ©

32(b)).
12. DIVIDENDS 12. e &
2012 2011
—R—-TUE —HEAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T BT T
Interim — HK2.0 cents b — g B 2. 0% Il
(2011: HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZF——4 : 2.0%Al) 7,814 7,814
Proposed final — HK5.0 cents S e R Y] — 4 T 2 RS oAl
(2011: HKS5.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZF——4 : 5.0%1l) 19,416 19,535
27,230 27,349

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011
in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive

ordinary shares in issue during those years.
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

& Al ()

(continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based B A 5 i 0 2 R TG AR R R B R A
on:
2012 2011
R4 R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Earnings A
Profit attributable to ordinary equity SR I R AR i o 2 R
holders of the Company, used in the Ji i 2 AR ] S A
basic and diluted earnings per share Fi A & HEAL % A
calculation 52,581 72,324
Number of shares
Ity ¥ H
2012 2011
i et —EF
Shares JBe £y
Weighted average number of ordinary F SR B i A e i W 2 ) 2
shares in issue during the year used AR B CVBEAT B B 2 R
in the basic and diluted earnings Rt
per share calculation 390,706,456 390,709,547

N & B EFR
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|
. RTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W ¥E ~ W Bk i
Group M
Leasehold Furniture,
Land and improve-  fixtures and Plant and Motor  Construction
buildings ments equipment machinery vehicles in progress Total
4 il B~ WG i
1 52 KB KuRRE RS fil ERLIE st
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000
#WTL #WTr #WTL #WTL #WTr #WTL #W T
31 March 2012 ZB-CEENEE-H
At31 March 2011 and REZ-—EZZ-0R
at 1 April 2011: it S AL R
Cost or valuation KB 460,404 81,924 102,557 205,088 40,415 28,381 938,969
Accumulated depreciation Btk (113462) (37813) (69,347) (133,264) (271422) = (381,308)
Net carrying amount TR 346,942 4,111 33,210 91,824 12993 28,581 557,661
At T April 2011, net of REZ-—ENA-H>
accumulated depreciation LR B iE 346,942 4,111 3,210 91,84 12,993 28,581 557,661
Additions e 6,356 mm 6,399 4401 5929 2,090 52,552
Disposals/urite-off /g 67 (639) (226) 93) (113) - (1,158)
Depreciation provided ENCEE
during the year Z2Hik (12,946) (11,233) (9.870) (13,178) (4710 - (51937)
Transfers iy 5,654 19597 - - - (25,251) -
Exchange realignment B 594 1,183 861 2912 19 999 12071
At 31 March 2012, net of REZ-ZEZAZT-0
accumulated depreciation REFEET 352,063 80,176 30,34 85,366 1491 6,419 569,189
AU31 March 2012: [ S SV E K
Cost or valuation BAH A 479,080 124,842 108,930 233,646 44,926 6,419 997,843
Accumulated depreciation LR (127,017) (44,666) (18,356) (147,780) (30,635) - (428,634)
Net carrying amount TR 352,063 80,176 30,374 85,866 1491 6,419 569,189
Analysis of cost or valuation: A A 7 :
At cost ek 394,080 124842 108930 233,646 44,926 6,419 912,843
At31 March 1994 valuation RAAMEZ =41
I 85,000 - - - - - 85,000
479,080 124842 108930 233,646 44,926 6,419 997,843

100
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUI

(continued)
Group Y0 |
Leasehold Furniture,
Land and improve- fixtures and Plant and Motor ~ Construction
buildings ments equipment machinery vehicles n progress Total
14 il = frfi RO it

R B RERGE 3 HE ERIE &t

HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HKS$ 000

#WFr #WFr #WFr #WFr #WFr #WFr biiaon
31 March 2011 ZE-EAEt
At 1 April 2010: REZ-FENA -0 :
Cost or valuation Bk gl 435,859 71862 94,488 208,389 39079 16,894 867271
Accumulated depreciation Lt (99,216) (31,781) (61,007) (121,715) (27.821) - (341,540)
Net carrying amount TR 336,643 40,081 33,481 87,174 11,458 16,894 525,731
At 1 April 2010, net of RZF-FENA—H
accumulated depreciation SRR g 336,643 40,081 33481 87,174 11458 16,894 525,731
Additions e 5,792 10222 8.605 6,567 6,361 14631 52,178
Acquisition of a subsidiary W W
(note 33) (Hiat33) 12,043 - - 9,603 - - 21,846
Disposals/urite-off e /g (6,047) (416) (386) (3,780) (719) - (11,348)
Depreciation provided ERTHE
during the year 2k (12,175) (7,109) (9.490) (11,777) (4362) - (#4913)
Transfers [ 414 3,690 - - - - (3,690) -
Exchange realignment 5 6,796 1333 1,000 4,037 255 746 14,167
At 31 March 2011, net of RZB-—HZZ1-0>
accumulated depreciation LR RS 346,942 1 33,210 91,824 12,993 28,581 557,661
At 31 March 2011: RZF-—FZZ1-0:
Cost or valuation BA S 460,404 81,924 102,557 225,088 40415 28,581 938,969
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiE (113,462) (37.813) (69,347) (133,264) (27422) - (381,308)
Net carrying amount HR 346,942 44111 33210 91,824 12,993 28,581 557,661
Analysis of cost or valuation: AR -
At cost Bk 375,404 81,924 102,557 225,088 40415 28,581 833,969
At 31 March 1994 valuation R=AANEZRZ+—H

Zfhifh 85,000 - - - - - 85,000
460,404 81,924 102,557 225,088 40415 28,581 938,969
W E B AE R G
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings in Hong Kong and
buildings in Mainland China included above are held under

medium term leases and are situated in:

14. Y93 ~ Wil B e i (410

S A AR [P A s L i R A DA R
I K P 2 AT % v AR A0 A S R DL e
5 s

At cost At valuation Total
e AR e Al i B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o T T BT

31 March 2012 R -TAHE=ZA=1+—H
Hong Kong s 130,042 85,000 215,042
Mainland China F g K e 264,038 = 264,038
394,080 85,000 479,080

31 March 2011 R —-—4E=H=1+—H
Hong Kong EaE: 130,042 85,000 215,042
Mainland China TN < 245,362 - 245,362
375,404 85,000 460,404

Certain of the Group’s buildings, which are situated in Hong
Kong, were revalued at 15 July 1993, by C.Y. Leung & Company
Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers. The
leasehold land and buildings were revalued at open market value,
based on their existing use. Since the year ended 31 March
1994, no further revaluations of the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings have been carried out, as the Group has relied upon the
exemption granted under the transitional provisions in paragraph
80A of HKAS 16 from the requirement to carry out future
revaluations of its property, plant and equipment which were
stated at valuation at that time.

At 31 March 2012, certain buildings of a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary with a net book value of approximately HK$3,875,000
(2011: HK$9,100,000) were pledged to secure general banking

facilities granted to that non-wholly-owned subsidiary (note 28).
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AR S T Ay AL W AT > TIR— IULEAE
B I H R B3 A A A A B R R D
B AT A LA w AR AL - AL b K5 T
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—HIMAEZA =+ —HIRE R » HRAR%E
A 452 A 9 o T v ) B 1695 80 A B =2 4 U 5 K
RFE R HBEYE - BE IR ENE
A W 40 S A A ] 2 A b A AT
— B EA o

N_F—E=ZH=1—H > —HIEEEHE
Fi JB§ 2 ) 5 A8 gy S i IR T {49 3,875,0009
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Group
3L

2012 2011
it St .
HKS$’°000 HK$’000
BT T T T
Carrying amount at beginning of year AR H) Z W T 17,223 15,356
Gain from a fair value adjustment 2P Z 25 1,824 1,159
Exchange realignment i 58, ) 622 708
Carrying amount at end of year AR Z IR THNME 19,669 17,223

The Group’s investment property is situated in Mainland China

and is held under a medium term lease.

The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 March
2012 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at RMB16,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$19,669,000) on an open market, existing use basis. The
investment property is leased to an associate of the Group under
an operating lease, further summary details of which are included
in notes 35(a) and 37(a)(iv) to the financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment property are
included on page 160 of the annual report.

AR ] 2 B S AT B K B S 4 A

HIFEH -

AEEZHEYE  R_B-HE=EH=1—
HH1 8 o B 38 A R AR SR R AT R R
A AEHAGE  REWEDZEBITHEZ AN
7 By 5k e 1R WA 1 N R 16,000,00006 (%16
19,669,000%7T) 38 % 4 3 DL 4848 AL 4 % AL
BT A I R s R PR S

B 5£35(a) & 37(a)(iv) °

ACER I 45 S 2 JLARE AT R 4E RSB 160 -
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The Group’s prepaid land lease payments above relate to
leasehold land which is held under medium term leases and is

situated in Mainland China.

During the year ended 31 March 2007, the Group acquired &M
TR BEZR AR AR (“GZ Panxi”), which operates restaurants
on a piece of land (the “Land”) in Liwan District, Guangzhou,
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). At 31 March 2012,
the carrying value of the Land was HK$47,296,000 (2011:
HK$47,021,000). In the opinion of the directors, based on the
advice from the Group’s external legal advisors, GZ Panxi
has the right to use the Land and occupy the buildings for its
restaurant operations, and upon the payment of the land premium
for the Land, the Group can obtain the land use right certificate
for the Land.

At 31 March 2012, certain leasehold land of a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary with a net book value of approximately HK$1,522,000
(2011: HK$2,525,000) were pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to that non-wholly-owned subsidiary (note 28).
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 16. TAT - b AL 1 5k
Group
e YL |

2012 2011

e St 2 R4

HKS$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Carrying amount at beginning of year AR F) Z Hik T AE 118,621 111,269
Additions wNE - 120
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33) Wi B JB8 2 W) (M E33) - 5,345
Recognised during the year AN HER 3,272) (2,955)
Exchange realignment T 5, i & 4,123 4,842
Carrying amount at end of year AR #¢ 2 Bk THI A 119,472 118,621

Current portion included in prepayments,  fL$57E T A 3K 8 ~ 57 & K&

deposits and other receivables Al JE S K JE < 3 B 43 (3,308) (3,028)
Non-current portion I B 4 116,164 115,593

A G B bt 2 B e B RO B B e
AR P IRAFA > WALR B RE o

BEZRFLE=ZA=ZT—HILFEER » K&
A Y B M T R R R ) (R
B) o MR AE P EE N IR E (T E])
JE 0 7 1 I — R e ([ ) B WA >
W =ZA=Z1+—H » Z L IEmHE
¥%472960004§7n( E——4 1 47,021,000%

c MIBEARLE I LAREMNER  wF
m&=%m¢@ﬁ@&maimﬁmma@%
ERB MR » DL ROR AT #% L = 1 i
fE A% » A [H v B 2 il R R o

MN_F—TE=ZH=Z1—H —HIEEEHE
B Jg 2 ) 5 L6 b MR i S 491,522,000
JG (SR ——4F 12,525,000 0) ©FHAH » DA
B % Ik 2 A P o W) 2 — SR AT i A
BE (B 5E28) ©



Group

£
HKS$’000
T T
At 1 April 2010: R -RENH —H :
Cost BA 36,901
Accumulated impairment B A A (1,350)
Net carrying amount W T E 35,551
Cost at 1 April 2010, net of accumulated AR —FENH —HZ A
impairment T B R 5 AR 35,551
Exchange realignment [ 50, 34 2% 1,439
At 31 March 2011 HoZF—-—H#=H=+—H 36,990
At 31 March 2011: RE-F—-—#=A=+—H:
Cost A 38,340
Accumulated impairment BEH A (1,350)
Net carrying amount Y T 1 36,990
Cost at 1 April 2011, net of accumulated MR ——FENH—HZ A
impairment O30 Bk B 5 A 36,990
Exchange realignment [ i, i 8% 1,187
At 31 March 2012 HER-CZHEZH=E4H 38,177
At 31 March 2012: RER-ZHEZA=+H
Cost A 39,527
Accumulated impairment BEHAE (1,350)
Net carrying amount YR i 38,177

mN & E AR
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17. GOODWILL (continued)

17. V62 (%)

Impairment testing of goodwill 4 5 DA Bk
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating 43 Wt 2 B 4 A AR WAL 22 1 R 2 MR T 8
units is as follows: T
Trading business GZ Panxi operation Poultry husiness Others Total
$Uh BOM R B FEEH L] it
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
SR-Ch R ZR-Ch ZF-—F 222 ZF—F 222 Rk Z%-Ch C3-F
HK$’000 HKS'000 — HK$'000 HKS'000 ~ HEK$'000 HKS'000  HEK$'000 HKS'000 ~ HKS$'000 HKS$'000
#WTL  #FTr #WFL EFFT WL BT BWFTEL BFTL iR ERFL
Carrying amount of goodwill % 2 IR A 17,513 16,922 12,584 12,160 4,157 4017 3923 3,891 38177 36,990

GZ Panxi operation and trading business cash-generating units

During the year, the recoverable amount of the GZ Panxi
operation cash-generating unit and trading business cash-
generating unit have been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a ten-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 5%.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
GZ Panxi operation cash-generating unit and trading business
cash-generating unit for 31 March 2012. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash

flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,

increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and

reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to inventory price inflation is the forecast price indices

during the budget year from where inventories are sourced.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected
efficiency improvements, discounts rates and purchase price

inflation are consistent with external information sources.
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17. GOODWILL (continued) 17. g8 ()
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) T 2 O W00 ()
Poultry business cash-generating unit 5 8 T B 5 A B
The recoverable amount of the poultry business cash-generating KB LB B4 e L AL 2 Wl 3k 8 TR 35 A
unit was based on fair value less costs to sell. Certain assets A DS B AR T B o AR S B A A WAL
of the poultry business cash-generating unit were valued on 31 ZETEREOR -F—HF=H=1+—HHHE
March 2012 by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited, independent SL B SE A A A E A R R R AT R A R AR R B
professionally qualified valuers, on an opening market, existing HHERAB TSGR EITHE -
use basis.
In the prior year, the recoverable amount of the poultry AR o GBS B 4 A WAL R W el RO
business cash-generating unit was determined based on a 500 P AR R R o At P £ e TRy AR B
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based FT A e ¥ 25 1 A 2 B O T A B A O TE W R
on financial budgets covering a ten-year period approved by Boo BB AT Z MBI R S54% » FHERK
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow BEBMNHEMERFHZEEBN R - BiE R
projection was 4%. The key assumption of budgeted gross Bl B A Bk R EARGRE B EHE .

margins, discount rates and purchase price inflation used in the

value in use calculation of the poultry business were same as

above.
18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK 18. K EME#H
Group
40|
2012 2011
e R
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T BT T
Livestock: BE:
At fair value o E 113 379
At cost less accumulated amortisation B B S
and impairment losses WA e 18 6 46
119 425
2012 2011
e St R
Physical quantity of peafowls: fLEMA :
Number of day-old peafowls BEFLEHE 783 2,956
Number of breeder peafowls BHREFLEMH 5,649 5,735
6,432 8,091

moH E®AERAAE =2 — =% 107
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8. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK (continued)

The Group’s non-current livestock comprises breeder and day-old
peafowls owned by a subsidiary. The day-old peafowls are raised
for sale and are valued at fair value less estimated point-of-sale
costs. The breeder peafowls are held to produce further day-old
peafowls. Breeder peafowls are stated at cost less accumulated

amortisation and any impairment losses as no active or ready

markets exist for these breeder peafowls and their fair values

cannot be measured reliably.

18. M & d (51)

AEBMZIEE B EBFHEEIOLRALE > I
H— [ B 2 WA - R AL A B AR >
Be DA PR B R A e Z BRA A MR - B R
LR A R R ALE LS - AR LA
JHE 35 R 0 T 3 T A T S A E I P
RS A Ik 3R T4 A A R AR o

Group

£ |
HK$°000

HHT T

The movements in non-current livestock

at fair value are as follows:

Balance at 1 April 2010, at fair value
Increase/(decrease) in fair value less estimated
point-of-sale costs attributable to:
— physical change
— price change
Decrease due to harvest

Exchange realignment

Balance at 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011,
at fair value

Increase/(decrease) in fair value less estimated
point-of-sale costs attributable to:
— physical change
— price change

Decrease due to harvest

Exchange realignment

Balance at 31 March 2012, at fair value

FHMBEAFEZEBHNT ¢

RER-FENA — H 28 A FE
WM, G ) W B R A
i g Y

—BEHZS

— fEH% S By
PRI WL T 9 A
52 i) %

RER-—HZA=HEZF 4
POH—HZ A58 > ATFE
AFE I, G ) WRE B R A
i g Y
— W HED
— fE A% 5 )
PRI WAL T 3k A
M 5, 4 8

BB -THEEZA=ZT B A TE
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18. NON-CURRENT LIVESTOCK (continued) 18. kB & ®E (&)

Particulars of the gross carrying amount and the accumulated DL AS TRk B w4 4 R AR T B S 1R B HE > B R
amortisation of breeder peafowls, which are stated at cost less FLAE 2 HE T A R B SRR SRR T
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses, are as - S
follows:
Group
£ L]
HK$°000
BT T
At 1 April 2011: W_F——HMH—H :
Cost JRA 3,863
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 2 7T # 85 & Uk {1} 15 (3,817)
Net carrying amount MR T ¥ L 46
At 1 April 2011, net of accumulated W —-—FWUJ—H -
amortisation and impairment losses C 11 B B 8 8 T s 0 4R 46
Decrease due to harvest IR W8 )k i 9 A (25)
Amortisation provided during the year N T RS (15)
At 31 March 2012, net of accumulated W_F-ZHE=ZA=Z+—H>
amortisation and impairment losses O B B 4 8 A U i 4R 6
At 31 March 2012: HEF-ZHEZH=EFH
Cost JRA 2,854
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 2 7T 3 85 & Uk {1} 15 (2,848)
Net carrying amount MR T ¥ L 6
At 1 April 2010: PR—RENA—H :
Cost JRA 5,556
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 2 7T # 85 & Ik {1} 15 (5,371)
Net carrying amount IR T ¥ L 185
At 1 April 2010, net of accumulated W_R—FFENT—H
amortisation and impairment losses C 11 B B ot o % s e 4R 185
Increase due to raising ] i) 7 1f] 34 fn 5
Amortisation provided during the year N O R (144)
At 31 March 2011, net of accumulated H_F——F=ZA=+—H>
amortisation and impairment losses 40 B 2B FH 8 B e e 4R 46
At 31 March 2011: REF-—HZA=1—H
Cost JRA 3,863
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 2 7T # 85 & Ik {1} 15 (3,817)
Net carrying amount IR T ¥ L 46
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B |
9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

19. AW B A "l 2 B

Company
|
2012 2011
ot St R4
HKS$°000 HK$’000
T BT
Unlisted shares, at cost Ik b e - SR ARE 93,108 93,108

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries included in the Company’s
current assets and current liabilities respectively are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

3 BT O v 8 e A R
ASF B o 2 ) sk S S SR - SRS > HLZHARIE A
K o

AR T Z B A A T

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#f 72 o) AN B 2
(3 ) R 31193 [ifg:
H il kBB e B R Bt A T i Il % TR
Abundant Capital Inc.* British Virgin US$100 - 100.0 Investment holding
Islands 1003 72 B
5 JB 4 B s
Cowboy Food Company Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing of
Limited Hik 6,000,0003 7C peanut products
TR MHRAT T4 i
Crowne Profits Limited* British Virgin Uss1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Islands [ BE R
5 J8 v 4 By
E-Options Technology British Virgin Ussl1 - 100.0 Property holding
Limited* Islands 178 LUESEE)e
5 JB A B B
Eat & International (H.K.) Hong Kong HK$700,000 - 51.0 Restaurant
Co., Limited* ik 700,000% 7C (2011: 91.0) operations
(“Eat & International”) (ZF——4: RERE
PNTER L E] YR 91.0)
(TRBREM D)
Fancy Talent Limited* Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 - 100.0 Marketing of
ZRUTAHRA A+ PR 100,000,000% 7C snack foods
NEZ T B
B
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(continued)

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

19. A B A "l 2

Anvlz EEREA RN T : (8)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
[REE0 7% i) M A 4
(i3 Ve R ,/ HAK
H il kBB e B R Bt A T i Il ER =31
Four Seas Enterprises British Virgin US$20,000 100.0 - Investment holding
(BVI) Limited* Islands 20,0003 7t BE
S i I LT B
Four Seas Investment Hong Kong HK$10,000 100.0 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited B 10,0009 ¢ Eiacgidle
(formerly known as
Four Seas Enterprises
Holdings Limited)
(HI#§Four Seas Enterprises
Holdings Limited)
Four Seas China British Virgin US$1,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Holdings Limited* Islands 1,000,000% 7% Eid gidle
VG o A R D EY &gl
Four Seas Mercantile Limited Hong Kong (i) Ordinary HK$200 - 100.0 Trading in snack
19 5 A TR W (ii) Non-voting deferred foods, confectionery
HK$20,000,000 and beverages
()% 78 Bt 2009 7 M BER K
(i) 4 4% 5 k2 B 5
JEAE ey
20,000,000% 7
Four Seas Property Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Holdings Limited B 50,000,000% 7t BEVE R
M EA AT
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ HK$14,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
(Shantou) Company Mainland China 14,320,000% 7T of cakes
Limited* A VT PN ERERE
0 5 R AT R
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food PRC/ US$11,000,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing of
Co., Ltd.* » Mainland China 11,000,000 75 beverages
VU (B ) 7 B A ) A oK B B A

N & B EFR D A e
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A
MENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

19. 4 W& 2 vl 2 8% (4)

Anvlz EEHEA RN T ()

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#fT 7% ) M A 2
(i3 Ve R ,/ HAK

H il kAR e B4 R B A T i Il 4% EX =37

Four Seas (Shantou) Foods PRC/ HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Industrial Park Management Mainland China 30,500,000% G LIE X043
Co., Ltd.* A iV PN

PO (il ) 8 b TS AR
B B A ]

Four Seas (Yang Shan) PRC/ HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Development Company Mainland China 20,000,000% G IR
Limited* A i VL PN

VU (5 0L ) 38 fe A R 2 ]+ A

Four Seas Foods (Shantou) PRC/ HK$96,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Co., Ltd.* 7 Mainland China 96,000,0003% 7T confectionery and

VYA Gl ) AR R vk food products

BER A
285

Four Seas (Hebei) Food PRC/ HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Processing
Company Limited* A Mainland China 24,000,0003 7C of chestnuts

VU At ) b A ] A TV PN RFmL

Four Seas Logistics Company Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100.0 Provision of
Limited ik 200,000% G transportation services

VG Y A R 2 ] A R

Four Seas Trading (Shanghai) PRC/ US$200,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Co., Ltd.* 7 Mainland China 200,0003 G confectionery and

B 5 (b3 ) AR w] A R/ vk B food products

BER B A i
285

Four Seas Catering Enterprises Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Company Limited PR 10,0009 75 BEve R

Tk A A
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDI
(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Anvlz EEREA RN T : (8)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
[REE0 7% i) M A 4
(i3 Ve R ,/ HAK
H il kAR e 0 R Bt A T L i Il ER 231
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ HK$7,000,000 - 80.0 Manufacturing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China 7,000,0003 7C of snack foods
PRI (TR A IR A R« A i VL PN NEBE
Gainfaith Investments British Virgin Uss1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Limited* Islands [N RE K
I B IR T B
Guang Dong Fourseas PRC/ RMB10,300,000 - 100.0 Trading in frozen
Frozen Food Products Mainland China A R #10,300,0007C food products and
Co., Ltd.* A LV N snack foods
TR DR R
IR ] A MNEZH S
Hong Kong Confectionery Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Company Limited B 7,000,000% 75 B
T BRI A
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Limited iRy 20V 70 and packaging
75 8 G R T A R ) of ham and
ham-related
products
Rk
KR
KRR b
Hong Kong Biscuit Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 99.3 Investment holding
(International) Limited* PRt 40,000,0009 7t R
TR O (B He) A7 A
Homeright Properties British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Holding of
Limited* Islands 1378 trademarks
KM SEA A )+ 5 o 4 B B A TR

N & B EFR D A e
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(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=A=+—HIEE

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

19. A BB 2wl 2 B2 & (%)

AR T Z EEEHE AR T ()

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
5% £6) A ) HEAY B 2
R Ve W, HAK
H il kAR e B4 R B A T H# [LEES FERH
IFSCO Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$57,200,000 100.0 - Investment holding
i 57,200,000% 7 RE M
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Hong Kong HKS$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Rl LA HRAR i 1,000,000 7 food materials
BB S
KTC Corporation* Japan JPY10,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in cakes
JoE 5 55 T v X A HA 10,000,000 H BHEE S
Kanro Four Seas Foods Hong Kong HK$50,550,000 - 82.5 Investment holding
Company Limited ERs 50,550,000% 7G RE R
AL £ A A E
Kanro Four Seas Foods PRC/ HK$50,203,380 - 82.5 Manufacturing
(Shantou) Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China 50,203,380% 70 of candies
AU £ i (Gl 5E) v oK B WERIE
AR
Kwong Cheung British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Development Limited* Islands E BB R
£ &gl
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Hong Kong HK$3,660,000 - 99.0 Restaurant
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited bR 3,660,000% G operations
HEREERRARAR RBLE
Li Fook (Qingdao) PRC/ US$3,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Foods Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China 3,320,0005 JC of noodles
Pl (3 5 ) & o K B R
HRAT A
Luck Healthy Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Property holding
il IRy IESEY)
Matchless Bakery Company British Virgin HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Limited* Islands 20,000,000% 7 R
A7 S B 4 B AT IR )+ b ) Sl
Mass Joy Investments Hong Kong HKS$1 - 51.0 Investment holding
Limited i 170 B
More Ways Industrial Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 66.7 Investment holding
Limited il 10,0003 7 B
ZHEFARAT
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Bt %% 3 5 MY &

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=FA=+—HIFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. A WY )& 2 v 2 B ¥ (4)
(continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) ARAFZEEMBARFEBHWT = ()
Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
5% £6) A ) HEAY B 2
kR S BBk HAk
H il kAR e 8 R JBe A i L H# [LIEES FERH
Men Taishou Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Restaurant
TR HE A B A B 17T operations
RELE
Namtien Noodle Limited* Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
R R A A R i 1,000 7& of noodles
iR g
New Kondo Trading Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in Japanese
Company Limited P 1,000,000% ¢ food materials
R A RA H AR fh
R 5
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) PRC/ HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* # Mainland China 28,000,000% G of seaweed products
PR T Gl ) A7 A ] I Bk B ER A MR
Nico-Nico Four Seas Co., Ltd. Hong Kong HK$28,000,000 - 51.0 Investment holding
(“Nico FS”) i 28,000,000 7t BB
O A R A (TR )
Papochou Holdings Limited* British Virgin HK$15,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
AEWEEARAR: Islands 15,000,000% 7t BB
5 JB 4 B s
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100.0 Restaurant
B 3,200,000% 7t operations
RELE
Royalstar Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100.0 Car park
P 27T operations
FHEGRE
Shenzhen Matchless Food PRC/ RMB12,300,000 - 100.0 Bakery and
Co., Ltd.* A Mainland China N\ B#12,300,0007C factory operations
IR ERM I/ R K B T B 0 B
HREA T« A TRz 8E
Somerset Technology British Virgin US$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
Limited* Islands 178 B
£y | il
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A
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(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

19. 74 W& 2 vl 2 B ¥ ()

Anvlz EEREAFRFEED T (F)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
[REE0 7% ) M A 2
(i3 Ve R ,/ HAK
H il kAR e B4 R B A T i Il LEEH
Sushi Pro Limited Hong Kong HK$9,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
F A A RA A FiE 9,000,000% 7 BRI
Shousihuang Restaurant PRC/ HK$7,300,000 - 100.0 Restaurant
(Shenzhen) Mainland China 7,300,0003 G operations
Company Limited* * K B BERE
i R ()
HRA T A
Tohato Four Seas Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 80.0 Investment holding
Company Limited B 7,000,000% 75 R
MG 7 A R A
Tsun Fat (Huizhou) PRC/ HK$13,000,000 - 99.3 Manufacturing
Biscuit Factory Limited* * Mainland China 13,000,000 7¢ of biscuits
55 CEM) e R o BF s R
A7 B ] A
T & M Advertising Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising agency
Company Limited B 20¥7T i A
ERB A RAR
Yaohan (Yanwin) Food Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
Co., Limited 3 10,0003 76 BE I
VA (250) f A A 7
WL Bk PRC/ HK$8,000,000 - 66.7 Poultry business
F A A Mainland China 8,000,000% 7t REEH
ok B
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19. INVESTMENTS

N SUBSIDI

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Anvlz EEREAFAFEED T (F)

Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity

incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to

registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities

3% £} A v A B 2

(R Ve HH HAk
H Xl B b B 80 R B A i i Hik Al 4% LEEH
BN T P I KA R ) PRC/ RMB73,959,210 = 99.0 Restaurant operations
Mainland China A R¥73,959,21078 BERE

LV PN

T T 5 7 A AL PRC/ RMB6,500,000 = 100.0 Raising and sale
B ] A Mainland China N B ¥6,500,00078 of peafowls
LV PN il R &
%Y
LA S A RA A PRC/ RMB500,000 = 100.0 Trading in
Mainland China A\ B#500,00070 confectionery
ElE Rl PN and food
BER &
BMZE S
52 14 1 S PRC/ HK$37,000,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
AR A A Mainland China 37,000,000% 76 and packaging
v K of ham and

N & B EFR D A e

ham-related
products

Wk R Bk
BB A B
IR
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Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=A=+—HIEE

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 19. 4 WY )& 2 ) 2 B ¥ (4)
(continued)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) ARAFE Z EHENEA BN T o (5)
Place of Nominal value of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered and fully the Company
Name and operations paid-up capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
C#fT A ) MEAN B 2
ik b E Hl Rk HAl
H il kBB e 8 R JBe A i H# [GEES TR
REE S (T PRC/ HK$3,200,000 = 100.0 Trading in
IR ] A Mainland China 3,200,000% 7 food materials
i K B BB ZH S
BEM W REE 5 PRC/ RMB1,000,000 = 65.0 Trading in
BT A Mainland China A R#1,000,00058 snack foods
B/ R K B MEZHE G
& Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm * B S R 37 & e M 3 A o
of the Ernst & Young global network oAl B 2w B k% o
" These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned A % 5 PO A ) % v B R A s A AN T A%
enterprises under PRC law. jog (e )
AN This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative joint AN IR A T g v R R 2 AN A A A 2

venture under PRC law.

fo AR R AR [ B i A N ROBURT A

# Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the Group
2 A A 4 S =T =
and B 735 18 WA RBOR AT AR B BERR (the “Vendor”) SRR SR (1S ) R M P 3% T . 2

JBe 15k B 7 AR B 19 2 M IR R SRR 5 fEL 4
TR 53 =52 B W P 2 AT ) v ) Bl 4R - O JEAE 2
LI B AR B B M R B R
YLt -

for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains 1% shareholding
in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of the profit or loss
in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the operation or
management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the following:

— BT R v I BN 1l A 1 B
i s

- the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in Liwan
District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

= ORREON PR AN 2 M T 3 AR
REUIZHE s X

- the alteration of the use of the building occupied by GZ Panxi
other than the Cantonese style restaurant operation; and

- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi. - BRI
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

20

(continued)

On 4 November 2011, the Group disposed of a 40% interest in
Eat & International, decreasing its ownership interest to 51%. A
cash consideration of approximately HK$738,000 was received
from the non-controlling interest shareholder. The carrying value
of the net assets of Eat & International at the disposal date was
HK$2,005,000, and the carrying value of the interest disposed
of was HK$802,000. The difference of HK$64,000 between the
consideration and the carrying value of the interest disposed of

has been recognised in retained profits within equity.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group acquired an
additional 16% equity interest in Nico FS and its subsidiary at
a cash consideration of HK$4,480,000. Further details of the

acquisition are included in note 33 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes to Financial Statements

19

Bt %% 3 5 MY &

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=FA=+—HIFE

R E A 2 B ()

WoZ——4E+—AME > A% HEERRTE
W Z409%HE 75 > A L HEH HERR W ES1% o AR
] 2 1 e 4 A i e R WAL BB 4 AR AR 49 738,000
Wt WHEH» KR EMZFEEZIER
{ %52,005,000%5 JC > Ft H B HE 25 Z 1% T 18 2%
802,000%5 7T o A B AR B th B M AR MR I M 2
ZEH64,000%5 70 T HE 25 12 58 7 IR B W A o

BECZR-—HEZA=Z1F—HILEEHM
74 452 0 S R 1T 1 o e G B T ] RS 1690 B
HE > Bl A AR $44,480,0009 7 o A B W = 4
— 5 TR B 55 i B a3 o

AR DA R BTAR A AR R 2 SR AR
-2 EXES Pl YN gt et
AT > HAR S W EE S R T R RS 2 W e
WA I -

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. RIBB AR 2B E
Group
M

2012 2011
R4 TR
HK$°000 HK$’000
YT BT
Goodwill on acquisition P W g e A T 477 477
Share of net assets FEAG & B A 150,812 137,605
151,289 138,082

The amounts due from the associates included in the Group’s
current assets are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances with the
associates are disclosed in notes 24 and 27 to the financial

statements, respectively.

g

F e 4 0 B A N I A ] K I 2 4
> HEBEAERRK -

A SR [0 LI A ) 2 A B R R A
T 23 ) R 500 7% B 2 i ot i k24 1227 o

N & B EFER DA » =
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

20. JIBEE A vl Z B ()

Particulars of the associates are as follows: AR ERBW T
Percentage of
Place of ownership interest
Particulars of incorporation/ attributable Principal
Name issued shares held registration to the Group activities
FHCHST il i 4 190 M A
# JBe B kA% X i b B L E-¥ipid A B 37
Calbee Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 50.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited of HK$1 each " of snack foods
REBIUW A R A F B JBe THI A1 9 0 /NS
Z % i
Calbee Four Seas (Shantou) Paid-up capital PRC/ 50.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited @ R A Mainland China of snack foods
REBIYH (I 3H) A FRA RO S VT PN NERE
Guangzhou Meiji Confectionery Paid-up capital PRC/ 30.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited © B e A Mainland China of snack foods
JEE N B 9 SR A B 06 g vk B and confectionery
UNYE S Y
Guangdong M&F-Yantang Paid-up capital PRC/ 21.0 Manufacturing
Dairy Products Company B B AR Mainland China of ice-cream and
Limited ® PPN dairy products
JE SR VY W) e ol FLE A R A F O TRE R IR
Meiji-Four Seas Company Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
Limited @ of HK$1 each g BB B
W36 P I A LA w6 5 Ji 1 fE 1 9 o0
Z W
MFD Holding Company Limited © Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
U FL A R A O of HK$1 each His BB
B JBe THI A1 9 0
Z % i K
Want Want Four Seas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Trading in
Company Limited @ of HK$1 each i snack foods
TEE JEE 7O A B 2 ] 00D B L 1 95 78 MNEH G
Z W
Lotte Four Seas Limited ©@ Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Investment holding
% K Y YA B A T 06 of US$1 each v ERS< gy

B JBeTH R 15870
Z 58 B
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Notes:

(i)  Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm
of the Ernst & Young global network

(i) The financial years of these associates are not coterminous with
that of the Group and have financial year ending 31 December.
These associates use 31 December as their financial year end date
to conform with their holding companies’ reporting date or statutory

requirements.

The financial years of above associates are coterminous with
that of the Group, except for associates as mentioned in note
(ii) above, for which the consolidated financial statements are
adjusted for the material transactions between their financial year
end date and the Group’s year end date.

During the year, the Group disposed of its 30% of equity interest
in Cadbury Four Seas Company Limited, at a cash consideration
of HK$1. Cadbury Four Seas Company Limited was engaged in
the trading in confectionery.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group had
discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of Cadbury
Four Seas Company Limited because the share of losses of the
associate exceeded the Group’s interest in this associate. The
amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of this
associate for the year ended 31 March 2011 and cumulatively
were HK$6,255,000 and HK$20,404,000 respectively.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their

management accounts:

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=FA=+—HIFE

20. FAIBE A F 2 B ¥ (5])

() S I A R S A O B A K A R A A
HoAlb il 5 2 R A o

(i) AT A ) A B A B A AT H B 4 T Y R
W HMBAEEGEEA R+ H=4—H - &%
FUTZHA=4— B R M B A A 2 T
BN B IR A R 2 B F ek R A
B o

S Mg ) 2 B A R SR 5 T B B4 R
Hy — > M b SRR REG) T BT A I A ] B
Bb o kB S R R AN S B A 4 I B4
R H Z M Z TR 5 1 i % o

FR-AZEHOHETEMENERAFTZ
30% B HE > Bl A 2 1900 o 5 A M KA R
AE EEEERERE S -

BRECFR——H=ZA=Z1T—HILEEYM > |
A B 1 EAG 5 E R YRR A E] Z s 4R R
R A [ ST s W) Z R RS PR O AR IR R
RIEEZHEARZER - KEARKE_ZF
——E=ZH =+ —H I FEZ AL RS A
AR R Z e 18 T R 5t 4R 43 Bl 456,255,0009 76
120,404,000 JC °

T 2 [ A 4 O 0 A W 2 S B R - T
ek A EZ AR ¢

2012 2011

e St S ZE 4

HK$’000 HK$’000

T 0 BT

Assets #E 466,017 419,707
Liabilities A1 70,612 143,037
Revenue WA 460,913 435,097
Profit i 1] 28,210 816

g
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

21. w4k i A B ¥

INVESTMENTS
Group Company
£ A
2012 2011 2012 2011
e = S = St i S
HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000
BT BT T BHTI BT T
Listed equity investments, LR R E
at fair value: AP -
Hong Kong s 90,148 65,227 152 231
Elsewhere 3 Ath 30 5 - 10,564 - =
90,148 75,791 152 231
Club debenture, at fair value TSR A TE 327 327 — =
Unlisted equity investments, LR
at cost A 2,733 2,733 — =
93,208 78,851 152 231

During the year, the net loss in respect of the Group’s available-
for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive income
amounted to HK$25,039,000 (2011: HK$1,370,000), of which
a gain of HK$5,109,000 (2011: HK$6,310,000) was reclassified
from other comprehensive income to the income statement for the

year.

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities
which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and

have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

There was a significant decline in the market value of certain
listed equity investments during the year. The directors consider
that such a decline indicates that the listed equity investments
have been impaired and an impairment loss of HK$11,051,000
(2011: HK$17,866,000), which included a reclassification
from other comprehensive income of HK$11,051,000 (2011:
HK$17,866,000), has been recognised in the income statement

for the year.

As at 31 March 2012, certain unlisted equity investments with a
carrying amount of HK$2,733,000 (2011: HK$2,733,000) were
stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the
opinion that their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The

Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.
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22. CURRENT LIV OCK y 2. BB

Group
#M
2012 2011
it St .
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT BT
Breeder chicks A 1,829 2,354
Hatchable eggs i 406 603
Day-old chicks T 1,412 1,077
3,647 4,034
Due to the generally short breeding and raising cycle of the Fh P S W — B S A ] e o R e > Rl
chicks and because an active market does not exist, these MRS BB A EEE ARG &
livestock are classified as current assets and are stated at cost less 3 2 G B AR AT A DML A AR o B AR B AT
any impairment and a reconciliation of changes in the carrying )RR A R TR 5 ) > IR R A 2] o
amount of biological assets between the beginning and the end of
the current financial year is not presented.
23. INVENTORIES 23 i %
Group
#£H
2012 2011
e St 3 R
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT oo
Raw materials JEORE 53,212 53,190
Work in progress 2 B i 10,251 13,268
Finished goods B 154,757 140,393
218,220 206,851
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

24, FEW & B Mk Ak

Group
3|

2012 2011

B —B——A

HK$’000 HK$’000

YT BT T

Trade receivables JE W B 5 W Ak 532,174 504,439
Impairment AR (6,196) (3,364)

525,978 501,075

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to three months, extending up to four to five months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade

receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

AR EE R P 2 B IRMI DE 8% T > R &
BB w R o AR A —E=M
H>BEHEEFME - TERENELMA -
R % P 3R 5 BB B o ARG ) SR
) B AR B 2 MR T > It A R e
F K o A BRI A o B
T A > DA AR 4 T 2 WA B M ik B
ZZ e b% FAB > L O R
JE K o A 55 B SIS A % 56 A B AT AT P R
s H Al AR T - MU B IRFKTI R B

T IR > AR R B A ) B A 2 R

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provisions, B OB ZIRE i T -
is as follows:
Group
e 3L |

2012 2011
e St 2 TR
HK$’000 HK$°000
YT BT T
Within 1 month ME AN 212,549 181,913
1 to 2 months 12218 A 98,603 80,629
2 to 3 months 2231 A 71,614 95,198
Over 3 months 3fE H L E 143,212 143,335
525,978 501,075
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables

are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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24, MEWCH 5 WAk (4)
RE L B 5 Uk 2 4 2 8 T

Group
e 0|
2012 2011
R4 TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o o
At beginning of year HAER) 3,364 3,296
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) ORI G ] (M 7) 3,680 1,946
Amount written off as uncollectible B A Ji 30 WA T 2 i 4 sk O (848) (1,878)
At end of year AR 6,196 3,364

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$6,196,000 (2011: HK$3,364,000) with a
gross carrying amount before provision of HK$6,196,000 (2011:
HK$3,364,000). The individually impaired trade receivables
relate to customers that were in default or delinquency in

payments and are not expected to be recovered.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered
to be impaired is as follows:

bl B W B B R R 2 VA A T 9
i 48 5% T 1 256,196,000 7C (& — —4F ¢
3,364,000%5 78 ) Z 15 71 E W B 5 R 3k AE AR
# #56,196,000% 7T (ZF — — 4 : 3,364,000
J6) o BB R P Z M85 O K 5 R
SR B R B KRR WA R AR AR o

AR AR A B W 5 Mk Z B B A T I T

Group
£ 3|

2012 2011
it S 2 e
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Neither past due nor impaired 7 40 26 9 sl 1 505,237 473,094
Less than 1 month past due A — A 10,375 14,351
1 to 3 months past due W —Z = A 4,404 13,630
Over 3 months past due =M AU L 5,962 -
525,978 501,075

Mmoo E ®AERARP - =T - =%F 5% 125



Notes to Financial Statements

Bt % W& MY

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=A=+—HIEE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no

recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully

recoverable.

Included in trade receivables are amounts due from the Group’s
associates of HK$1,600,000 (2011: HKS$1,456,000), which are
repayable on similar credit terms to those offered to the major
customers of the Group.

24, EWCER B MRk (78)

BZKBAREF -

[E¥ e iEER ST el Y E e N LB
BB R ZEF o BB ELER > Ao
ERERA o HREEMRZERER L ERER
SRR > % SE AN BRI AR 2 T A O > dE 2R
A Hh 9 L $8 4 o

JRE WA B B VR ok A A A A T O 8 W) A R 2K
TH 3£1,600,000% 5 (ZF — — 4 : 1,456,000
J0) o MW RAREER T EER R ZH
BIRHER o

25.PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. AR ~ WY 4 B 30 b M ek

Group Company
e 3| |
2012 2011 2012 2011
R T4 TR F T4 R4
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BYT I BT T
Prepayments TE AT K IE 46,184 68,844 46 143
Deposits and other receivables HE SR N 84,559 54,435 - -
130,743 123,279 46 143
Less: Deposits classified W B4 R R
as non-current assets BREZH 4 (20,715) (19,869) - -
Current portion B4 110,028 103,410 46 143

bt SIS B AR o bl A A Y
A S 7 0 0 0 A Bk 2 M WO I

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The
financial assets included in the above balances relate to

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 26. B RBE&SFMHEH

Group Company
ey AT

2012 2011 2012 2011
SR ZB—F ZR-"F ZF—f
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT T
Cash and bank balances Bla R RAT R A 287,900 296,821 463 306
Time deposits E WA K 264,247 279,603 = =
Cash and cash equivalents B4 J Bl 4 S H 552,147 576,424 463 306

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$109,757,000 (2011: HK$135,192,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

g

REEBAR REEMUANRYE TARY¥D 5
{2 Bl & B SR AT #5147 %5109,757,0008 70 (=%
——4F 1 135,192,000 76) - AR¥EAHHH
S 40 A o (RN R v I K e A B
45 RE ~ B RE S A B4 BRLRL S8 > AR S 4 o
75 B R T AT A I SR IR B 2 SRAT I N R

SRAT B 3R A H AT A2 R A 3 DL ) ) 3% e I
B - BHEBERTIEN T HE=MAZ
A TR0 AR o B SPA 4 I B O B G oK
b 3 A% B 2 T S 0 A kR R B IR B, o R
AT AR TS AR T AT 91 Sl B 7 ) R Bk A LA S
BZBRAT o
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27. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

27. MEAY RO SRR ~ UMb JE Ak I e
RSt £ 46

Group Company
e A+
2012 2011 2012 2011

SR DR R AE SRk

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
#W T BT T #W T 0T T

Trade payables JEA B 5 R Ak 173,596 170,973 = =
Other payables Al JE A 35K JE 56,909 47,930 = =
Accruals JE st £ 86,178 89,021 1,097 922

316,683 307,924 1,097 922

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

IR > AR R H Y 2 BEAT B 5 iRk 2
IR AT T

Group
£

2012 2011
e St 3 TR
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Within 1 month MEA AN 111,997 121,835
1 to 2 months 1Z22M8 A 37,734 25,735
2 to 3 months 2838 A 9,264 12,284
Over 3 months 3E A YL 14,601 11,119
173,596 170,973

Included in the trade payables are trade payables of
HK$49,599,000 (2011: HK$42,747,000) due to associates, which
are normally settled on 30-day to 60-day terms.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables are non-
interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

128 FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2012

A E GIRZCBFBAERBFEEARZIENE S
R 3%49,599,000% JC (=& — —4¢ : 42,747,000
WIt) o P — 3060 H I FR 45 -

JREASH B2 5 MRk 2 i 8. B — 4% 302 60 H I PR &
o J A EAS KO TS S0 8 o A7 BT 3 2 =
H o



28. INTEREST-BEARING BAN

BORROWINGS
2012 2011
R R
Effective Effective
Group interest rate Maturity HK$°000 interest rate Maturity HK$’000
£H HRBA% WA #W T BRI R RN BT
Current
wH
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 0.8%-2.7% Within 162,192 0.7%-2.8% Within 146,108
S HE 65 FE W BB Bk 12 months 12 months
LA 128 H i
Bank loans - unsecured 1.3%-8.2% Within 688,383 0.7%-5.6% Within 588,963
TG AT B K 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
12 1 W 128 7 A
BB R WAL E R
Bank loans - secured 6.1% Within 12,293 4.9% Within 8,315
R SRAT Bk 12 months 12 months
12M 7 W 1218 7 A
862,868 743,386
Non-current
F i B
Bank loans — unsecured 1.0% 2013 - 2014 71,724 1.0%-1.2% 2012 - 2014 151,000
REACIH AT R SRR et
FOR A BER A
Bank loans - secured - - - 4.9% 2012 11,878
TP HAT R ot St
71,724 162,878
934,592 906,264
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS (continued)

28. Z AT R B 2 ST Bk ()

Group
e |
2012 2011
- 2t 2 ZEF A
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Analysed into: Sy AT A
Bank loans: AT -

Within one year or on demand B RN B R 862,868 743,386
In the second year AN 60,000 129,878
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEZFREN > AFEERWE 11,724 33,000
934,592 906,264

Notes: M it

(a) Certain bank loans of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary are secured
by the pledge of that non-wholly-owned subsidiary’s certain
leasehold land of HK$1,522,000 (2011: HK$2,525,000) and
buildings of HK$3,875,000 (2011: HK$9,100,000).

(b)  All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest

rates.

(c) Except for the bank loans denominated in Japanese Yen equivalent
to HK$304,288,000 (2011: HK$189,001,000), the bank loans
denominated in RMB equivalent to HK$130,060,000 (2011:
HK$137,547,000) and the bank loan denominated in United States
dollars equivalent to HK$3,095,000 (2011: HK$3,115,000), all bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period were in Hong Kong
dollars.

Ignoring the effect of any repayable on demand clause and
based on the maturity terms of the bank loans and trust receipt
loans, the amounts repayable in respect of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings are: within one year or on demand
HK$862,868,000 (2011: HK$724,636,000); in the second year
HK$42,000,000 (2011: HK$112,628,000); and in the third to fifth
years, inclusive HK$29,724,000 (2011: HK$69,000,000).
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T Ik 2 & B o w2 SRAT A B4 I DA %
I 2 AT VB o R 441,522,000 08 (Z%F
——4£ :2,525,000%70) Z HLE 138 % 3,875,000
Wt (& ——4 1 9,100,000% 0) Z HF /54
A1 475 I o

Fi A 8RAT B HE Wi B0k 3 AR B A Rt 8 e

B Al % 2304,288,0008 J6 (=& — — 4 ¢
189,001,000%5 7¢) DA H B 51 iR Z R 47 B3k ~ M
28 130,060,0009 7T (T ——4F : 137,547,000
wwot) YDA R AR Z BRAT B AR KO AR R
3,095,000 7C (= F——4F : 3,115,000% 75) A
EICH Mk Z AT EEKA » B SRAT RO R

L 53 A A 4 R R R AR B I AR R R AT
Bk B AR PRI Bk Z B G 3k > A< 4 8 28 4
R B Z S8R4T A B8 Z B 3Rk TE 4% ¢ 862,868,000
WOt (ZF ——4 1 724,636,000% Ji) 8 —
A N B IR OR R 5 42,000,0009 00 (ZF——
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112,628,000% J0) ZH N 56 4R 18 5 &
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The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the FERNEERIE A BN EREZZEHWT ¢
year are as follows:
Group - 2012 B — 4
Deferred tax liabilities WE S B LA
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated  arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation ~ Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries  of properties taxes Total
VI i
B A A
il ZATHME LES R KL Bt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
#W T BT BT EW T EW T
At 1 April 2011 RZF——HWA—H 412 13,018 4,071 201 17,702
Deferred tax charged/(credited) AR IEFE RAE GEA)
to the income statement IR (M #E10)
during the year (note 10) 152 (478) 91) - (417)
Exchange realignment E 33 - 537 - - 537
At 31 March 2012 RoF—"4H=ZH=+—H 564 13,077 3,980 201 17,822
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Group — 2011

Deferred tax liabilities IE #iE BE I A1 4
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries of properties taxes Total
PRI W B
MEBE A EE
i ZATVHEE WEE; st At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
W T W T T W T e W T
At 1 April 2010 RZF—-FFENA—H 807 12,564 4,162 879 18,412
Deferred tax credited AR BRI AR R N
to the income statement AT AZIEIEBIH
during the year (note 10) (W#t10) (395) (529) o1 (879) (1,894)
Acquisition of subsidiaries I O 2
(note 33) (Hit33) - 434 - 201 635
Exchange realignment [FE 56 i 8% - 549 - - 549
At 31 March 2011 BER-—HEEN=4—H 412 13,018 4,071 201 17,702
Group iG]
Deferred tax assets Y HiE BE I e
Losses
available for
Decelerated offsetting
tax against future
depreciation  taxable profits Others Total
W] FH DA B A
W BE B Rt i A
it i i T Al Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT T
At 1 April 2010 REB-FEN]—H 5 415 879 1,299
Deferred tax charged AR RN
to the income statement 1 B 2 9 A A I
during the year (note 10) (Mitio) - - (18) (18)
At 31 March 2011, 1 April 2011 RZF——H=A=+—H"
and 31 March 2012 ZEF-ERNA-H R
R -THEZAZT—H 5 415 861 1,281
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately
HK$113,678,000 (2011: HK$89,009,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also
has tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$176,688,000 (2011: HK$149,798,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against future taxable profit. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as,
in the opinion of the directors, it is uncertain whether sufficient
future taxable profits will be available against which the tax

losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings

generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2012, no deferred income tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of certain of the
Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
HK$38,148,000 at 31 March 2012 (2011: HK$24,133,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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29. JEHE B (HH)

g

AEBEHABEAZBEERL L
113,678,000% 7 (=& — —4E : 89,009,000%
J0) AR RR A AR IR Z S BB IR 2 AR 2
AR HE B R ) o AHE B IR E I K e E 2R
s — 2 A B 1 2 B IE i 4B 4 45 176,688,000
WG (2B ——4F 1 149,798,000% 75) » ® Ak
HCFU B A% 2 RER B i A o 3% S5 B IE e 18 P S e
AR A A 2H I R R R A K B S R 4R o

AR B i S T A B 5 P o R O B AR o 2 Bh
7 B A 3 i BEA B E EIR 2 B K
10%TEABL » ERLE H _FFNE—H—HE
B WHAR —FFLET A= HR
ZBA o L BTHMEE i v 1 e 5 b
K BERT A BB R A - JL00 H BE 0 B R AT
1K o BUARER I & > W BLR A 5% o Fk > A
A PR A S R B 4 W) e )\
G 1 — R A A 2 B B 4 IR 2 8 S T
Bt -

MF—TAEZHZE1—H s 0 kAR 4 R
Hh B K e . 2 B DB 2 R HE A 2 AR BE Hh 28R
B Z B RIR P ARRE c EF AR > %
e DA SEIBTR Y 7 NN P =) R
e R-F—H=ZH=1+—H Bk
B Z BB A R Z BB R B2 R EEBLIHA
18 2 07 IRy P 25 R 40 538,148,000 08 (& ——
4F 124,133,000 7T) ©

A FIUREE B BT ISR Ak SiE A I A O
B 5E %
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

30. A

Shares I By
2012 2011
e R
HK$’000 HKS$’000
#0%T o0 -3
Authorised: WhE
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares 1,000,000,000 /8 % JI% 1 1E
of HK$0.10 each 0.10% 70 Z 48 it 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CBITRHR -
390,707,640 (2011: 390,707,640) 390,707,640t (& ——4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 390,707,640/ ) 45 JBt i fH0.10%s T
(2011: HK$0.10) each TR 010 00) 2B Rk 39,070 39,070

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 108,000
(2011: 38,000) of its own shares on the Stock Exchange for
an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$212,000
(2011: HK$94,000). The repurchased shares were subsequently
cancelled after year end. The consideration paid on the
repurchase of 108,000 shares not yet cancelled as at 31 March

2012 was debited to the capital redemption reserve.

The 108,000 shares that were repurchased during the year ended
31 March 2012, together with 2,286,000 shares repurchased by
the Company subsequent to the end of the reporting period in
April 2012 were cancelled by the Company in April and May
2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, all the repurchased
shares were cancelled by the Company upon such repurchase
and, accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The premium paid
on the repurchase was charged to the share premium account.
An amount equivalent to the par value of the ordinary shares
cancelled was transferred to the capital redemption reserve as set

out in the consolidation statement of changes in equity.

The directors considered that, as the Company’s shares are
trading at a discount to the expected net asset value per share, the

repurchase of shares would be beneficial to the Company.
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AR > AR oy ) A T 38 BT % 5 3£ 108,000/8 (=
F——4F : 38,000/ Behr > SARE A %5212,000
WG (ZF——4F 1 94,0008 70) © BT i B 8% 4
HBPEHBZTN  H B F=H=1—
H > J1H 108,000/ B4 (WA TEST) B2 244
1 % B A B Il ol AR D B o

BREZR A= H kR
[H] Z 108,000/8t B > 78 [7] AR 2 ] 7 3t 15 390 A 1%
AT AR A R 22,286,000/ K43 >
AR TAE A K H BERESS

BEZF-—HFZA=Z+— HIRFEEHRE > K
v T S T R R T AT L B > T AR
O A 2 BT B A TR I e S B A i A 2
Y o i Il 2 OO Vi B O B4 v T R 1 B o
R A5 Tk 8 3 8 e B AR DR AR A
HHE 215 50 ) % P 92 T A I 1] ok AR 1S o

RS > WAL T Z By DL A R
T P17 O > e AR A F A
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 30. BB )
A summary of the repurchase of shares is as follows: T o BBy WE 2l 4
Number of Price per share Total
shares repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
3 i )% 4 8 H 5 JBe i A [RXER -k
Month HH B A%
HK$ HK$ HK$°000
Vo Vi BT T
31 March 2012 ZR—-ZHE=ZA=1T—H
March 2012 —E—-"4=A 108,000 1.96 1.94 212
31 March 2011 —“®—-—4E=ZH=1—H
April 2010 ZR-FENA 28,000 2.55 2.53 71
May 2010 “E-FELA 10,000 2.25 2.25 23
38,000 94

A summary of the transactions during the prior year with

MBEARNFIBAEFECRITE B R AR Z

reference to the movements in the Company’s issued ordinary R HMERIMT
share capital is as follows:
Number of Share
ordinary Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
A% £y
WHBBH C#iTBA  BoEsUR Mt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BT X B W T o
At 1 April 2010 W —FFENH—H 390,745,640 39,074 222,572 261,646
Repurchase of shares i [ B 47y (38,000) 4) (90) 94)
At 31 March 2011, RoF—-—F=ZH=1+—H-
1 April 2011 and R -—FENA—H
31 March 2012 r_FE—-"H=ZA=Z1+—H 390,707,640 39,070 222,482 261,552
Share options O B

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in

note 31 to the financial statements.

A T 2 i T S A O B R B3 o
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Company, and any executive
director or employee of any of the Company’s subsidiaries and
any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest.

The Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years up
to 16 September 2012, after which no further share options will
be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects. Share options complying
with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are granted
during the duration of the Scheme and those remain unexercised
immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period shall continue
to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant as within
the share option period for which such share options are granted,

notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 39,956,564 ordinary shares,
being 10.0% of the shares of the Company in issue on 2
September 2002. As at the date of this report, the total number
of shares available for issue under the Scheme is 39,956,564
ordinary shares, representing 10.2% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to a director or substantial shareholder of
the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding an independent non-executive director who
is a grantee of the share options). In addition, any share options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time or with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be

achieved before the share option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option (2011: Nil) was granted to
directors and other employees of the Company or employees of
any of the Company’s subsidiaries and any entities in which the
Group holds any equity interests.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
options outstanding under the Scheme (2011: Nil).

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %% 3 5 MY &

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=FA=+—HIFE

31. 0 B Al = (%)

g

BB ERAR R ERER®RZH
Wik E 28 H N R4 » AR AT AR H R T
T E 2 S R R W AR > L ZE R
AR B > BE AR e RET
O] o M RERE 2 R I A BE AR I R RE S A
i T B4 1k H AR A o BT R 2 IR RE 2
K B NG A 0 1 DL s A B R X
6% P A 356 L AS BRP GOJe 4 W AT 5 (i) i e
ZATREI > 0 B R R I R R B
A5 (i) i e HE e SR ZEL R R 2 A RIAT A (A
H) s KGv)RB BB > 2 5L 47 8 155 B RE i
HERZRIBAE(WEH) -

Sl JBEHEE 2 A AR o o S e o R Y R R R
T 52 Y B L bR s v R W > MES AR LR R
TR (DA 2y W) M i e 952 o T BE R
Ry oy 0 ) AR A2 P B AR AR B i M £ 5
(i) AR 2 B A i 3% 42 452 Hh D Je i st i 1 00 6
6l 32 55 H A 16 28 B 5 H 3R 3 P i 4 1 35 i vl
8 (DATGR 32 P HO3R BT i 2 1) 5 G AR 2
Bl By Z A o

Ji B R 0 408 WO T A A OB B B e SRR
EREZHES -

N> BEMERZ R RE (T4 ) T
O ) P R R S IR B AR 2 BT A Fi e
AR RAFEFFAEMERZ THZEE -

T IR > AR AR A 2 ) S S 0 AR AT
JRHE (4 ) -

N E®BAERAAA « =8 — =% 8% 137



138

(a)

VES
Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 48 to

49 of the financial statements.

The Group’s share premium account includes (i) the
credit of HK$19,900,000 which represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by
the Company and the aggregate nominal value of the share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debits of HK$90,000 and
HK$17,618,000 arising from the repurchase of shares during
the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the
Group’s subsidiaries and the Group’s associates operating as
Foreign Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been
transferred to the reserve funds. The reserve funds is non-
distributable in nature and can be utilised to offset the losses
incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group’s share of

capitalisation of retained profits by an associate.
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32. RESERVES (continued) 32. fin i (74)
(b) Company (b) A
Available-
for-sale
Share investment Capital
premium  revaluation  redemption Retained
account reserve reserve profits Total
kb
BY AL #A
I e Wi BEEE RN it
Notes HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000

Hiit #hTr  #FTr #FTr #FTT BT

At 1 April 2010 RZZ-BENA—H 2Bk 256,391 119 882 18,708 276,100
Total comprehensive ERAZENE/ (BE)

income/(loss) for the year - (23) - 31,370 31,347
Repurchase of shares i L Bt 30 (90) = 4 (4) (90)
Final 2010 dividend declared BER-E-FELHRE - - - 2 2
Interim 2011 dividend I o 11113 12 = = = (1814) (1.814)
Proposed final 2011 dividend ZERERANMRA 12 = = = (19,535) (19,535)
At 31 March 2011 and RZF-—E=A=+-HE

at 1 April 2011 “F-—ENR-A 256,301 9% 886 nm 280,010
Total comprehensive ERBRTIE/ (BR)

income/(loss) for the year - (79) - 27,750 27,671
Repurchase of shares not yet T T e A

cancelled - - (212) - (212)
Interim 2012 dividend “R-THEPHRA 12 - - - (7.814) (7.814)
Proposed final 2012 dividend ZR-ERRARRE 12 - - - (19,416) (19.416)
At 31 March 2012 REF-ZHEZAZF-H 256,301 17 674 23,47 280,239

The Company’s share premium account includes (i) the
credit of HK$53,719,000 which represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital issued by the
Company and the combined net assets of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993; and
(ii) the debits of HK$90,000 and HK$17,618,000 arising
from the repurchase of shares during the years ended 31
March 2011 and 2010, respectively. Under the Company
Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, a distribution
may be made from the share premium account in certain

circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account of the
Company and that of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital
of the subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired,
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993, as detailed
above.

AR ] Ay vk 1 R A H5 (1) 4 853,719,000 45 76
ZIHEIRRA > JIARA W) BT B A 2 T A SR B
—“ WA =ZFEEMEATREZ M EAFZA
B & 2 BHE W 5 T 2 2580 5 K (ii)90,000%5 7€ &
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—— R _F-FFEEZAE T H R R
B BT 2R o AR B RS A R B (RERT) »
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

33. %A E

On 24 March 2011, the Group acquired an additional 16%
equity interest in former associates, Nico FS and its subsidiary,
for a cash consideration of HK$4,480,000, and Nico FS and its
subsidiary have become non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Group. The principal activity of Nico FS is investment holding

and its subsidiary is engaged in the manufacturing of seaweed

products.

The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the goodwill

WoF——FE=H 0 H » A4 M 0w
Wi 7 2 W] AR 11 0 9 e B T ] 2 AN 6% B
RE > BlAARAE $54,480,000%8 7T > 1M £ 11 79 9 Kz
HMEA R CBRAREHZIEZEME LA -
PR T DY 2 S e 8 e R o i L R
Wl Z REE R KR .

B2 5y v i WO < B RN % P A TR IR

arising, are as follows: PR
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
A VO D I T 52
Z AP
Notes HK$’000
Mt ik BT T
Net assets acquired: JIt WL A
Property, plant and equipment W~ B Rk i 14 21,846
Prepaid land lease payments TEAT 1 b A 3RO 16 5,345
Trade receivables HE W & 5 Wk 4,966
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEATSRIE ~ 5T 4 T A R Wk I 717
Inventories 78] 5,305
Cash and bank balances Bl o SRAT A5 8% 17,823
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary JREAS) Wi Jegg R g 2 ) ik I (18)
Trade payables JEAT B 5 IRk (2,493)
Accrual and other payables HE w12 % At A 308 (533)
Deferred tax liabilities AR S B I £ £ (635)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value Fi A S AE T 53 VT i ) R M A 52,323
Non-controlling interests I i e HE A (25,638)
Gain on a bargain purchase recognised fr A Weas 3R 2 F Al A B AR
in other income and gains in the il W . o A R Wi 2
consolidated income statement (3,892)
22,793
Satisfied by: VAR5 J5 R 32 AT -
Cash Bl 4,480
Fair value of equity interest previously held as RH R RIRBE AR Z
investments in associates BEZ R AFE 18,313
22,793
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continue

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables
as at the date of acquisition amounted to HK$4,966,000 and
HK$113,000, respectively.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Nico
FS and its subsidiary is as follows:

33. & B (4

T WSO T R W B B R ek e Ttk O iR T 2
SEAE 43 B #54,966,0003 76 K 113,0003 T °

R S AR 10 IO e B R e 2 ] 2 B 9 A
WA -

HK$’000
B oo
Cash consideration Be R (4,480)
Cash and bank balances acquired O 2 B T ST A 17,823
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents REWHZHESRBEZHHER
included in cash flows from investing activities ReESEEARATH 13,343

Since the acquisition, Nico FS and its subsidiary had no
significant contribution to the Group’s revenue and consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 March 2011.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the prior
year, the revenue from continuing operations of the Group
and the profit of the Group for the prior year ended 31 March
2011 would have been HK$2,631,043,000 and HK$74,896,000,

respectively.

HUR > RE-F——F=ZA=+—H
AR AF RESBI D o AR 10 I N R L B R A ) S e
Ty A 5 ) 2 W 2 T A A v R A R K
Wk o

5 TE G OF AR R HEAT > A R A AR
HBERAREEZ W RAREARRER
——4EZ H =4 — H R4 B Z BRI 4 5
#42,631,043,000% JG 5% 74,896,000 JC °
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- NGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not

34. Bk £ 15

TR IR > S R B 5 4 AR A 2 B

provided for in the financial statements were as follows: SRE BT :
Group Company
3| |
2012 2011 2012 2011
SR R R Rk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T 3 n W T B W T
Bank guarantees given in T oy T 3 B fLB
lieu of utility and property RS EHZ
rental deposits SRAT R 387 450 - -
Guarantees given to banks in ok B 2 W] Z SR AT
connection with facilities 15 B ]SR4T
granted to subsidiaries PRAE I - = 1,688,737 1,519,758
Guarantees given to third parties bl 11 /AT
in connection with lease payments ORI A Z f
for lease agreements entered K ) 5 =
into by a subsidiary fEh Z ¥R = = 45,354 28,322
387 450 1,734,091 1,548,080

As at 31 March 2012, the banking facilities granted to
subsidiaries subject to guarantees given to banks by the Company
were utilised to the extent of approximately HK$887,488,000
(2011: HK$822,616,000).
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35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) to an
associate under an operating lease arrangement, with a lease

negotiated for a term of two years.

At 31 March 2012, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under a non-cancellable operating lease

with its associate falling due as follows:
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5. BBMA K
(a) fERIMAA

ALEECBHE L MHERZ REY
% (BFELS) F—Frlgh s AW  KERER Z Al
HIAE 0 2 M4

RER-ZHEEZA=1H > REREEE
AFFILZ A RSB RE T » ARLE R
2 T B 390 FR AT WO B I A < K8 T

T
Group
£ 3|

2012 2011
e S —E A
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
Within one year —4ER 1,000 403
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 8 — Z 3 .4 » @5 8 B W4 250 -
1,250 403

As lessee (b) fERRAA

The Group leases certain land and buildings under operating
lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging
from one to fifty years. The Group has the option of
extending the leases by up to three years in certain operating

lease arrangements.

At 31 March 2012, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

AR B AR AR IR LR A A T b R
T o MEMIMAFHHE - F 2L HEAR
G o A TREME R > ALK MA R
FRIE A B =4 -

REF-ZHEZAZH > REEARE
RIS AT 8 2 KE B RELA Th Y T 51 390 PR

falling due as follows: i Z B ARFL A R T -
Group
£ 3|

2012 2011
SRR R
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T BT T
Within one year —4EN 98,351 89,111
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 8 — Z 3 H.4F » A5 5 RBW 4 95,052 98,279
After five years WHHARER 33,366 35,742
226,769 223,132
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i
. TING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(continued)

(b) As lessee (continued)

The operating lease rentals of certain retail shops are based
on the sales of those shops. In the opinion of the directors,
as the future sales of those retail shops could not be
accurately estimated at the end of the reporting period, the
relevant rental commitments have not been included above.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not
have any future minimum lease receivables or payments
under non-cancellable operating leases (2011: Nil).

36. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note
35(b) above, the Group had capital commitments in respect of

property, plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period:

5. BB K ()

() e RBA (B)

HTRE M R B M EM ST IRZEE
fifl 2 9 B AR o AR > iR DU
ot IO A A R A B R
B> MDA B R R A o

TR IR > AR B AR A A 4 AL A AR
o S AT AT H AR 5 (0K RH B K S R
HOF——F ) -

36. 7K ¥

B b S RE3S(b) bl 2 R R A AR A - A SR
P o R B 3~ R S B A R
mE

Group
£ L]
2012 2011
ot S A
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Contracted, but not provided for ORT £ H R 3 4,657 7,227

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no

significant commitments (2011: Nil).
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed

(b)

elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

Notes to Financial Statements
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JT.BEANLRY

(a) BRI 5 e o4 I At s 5 P ot 2 22 5 e
REERAL > AR ARG I B L B AN LRTSL T

the following material transactions with its related parties HIE KRG
during the year:
2012 2011
R ok
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Bt 7t o o
Purchases of goods from associates [ i %5 2 & £F % ) 339,156 391,541
Sales of goods to associates T W 2 ) B (ii) 13,453 9,983
Promotion expenses reimbursed Wi 8 2 ) T 4 B S
by associates (iii) 18,039 18,150
Rental income from an associate KAWEARZHEBRA  (v) 989 986
Notes: Mt

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre-
determined prices agreed between the parties.

The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were
determined by reference to prices and conditions similar to
those offered to other major customers.

The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were
determined by reference to the costs incurred by the Group.

The rental income from an associate was determined between

the Group and the associate.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

()

(i)

Details of the amounts due from associates to the
Group at the end of the reporting period are included in

note 20 to the financial statements.

Details of the Group’s trade balances with its associates
as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in

notes 24 and 27 to the financial statements.

() I A W PRI 2 A T AR AR T 4005 TSR
i S AR T R AE

Gi) I A W 8 2 A AR TS 2 TR b 32
%P3 S M B AR A B AE o

(i) TS 4 Wl 3B 25 A B S T AR R T AR B
AHE

(v) & B 4 W) 2 R WA T i A 45 [ LI

BATRE -
(b) BB LZ M ARBIBE
(i) RBEBIER > BEARSRAREEZ
SRTE TR > U 7 B B 20 o

(i) AR > A B HILH B AR Z
2 5 R BRI B 25 ot B 24 B 27
Wik o

o & B AR 2 A o =
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(céﬂﬁnued)

(c) Commitments with related parties

On 1 July 2011, a subsidiary of the Group entered into a
two-year agreement with an associate, to lease the Group’s
investment property to that associate. Details of the
operating lease commitment are disclosed in note 35(a) to
the financial statements.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

(c) B BH ANt Z & ifE

RoF——FELH—H » AN —HH 5B
2 ) B — [ Bk 4 2 ) BT Sr W AR BT 1k > DA
A AR 3G T S A ] o A B
28 BT AR I 2 wE N R B R M R
35(a) P 5% ©

(d) AEMEZHBARZ WM

2012 2011

i S S R4

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Short term employee benefits 3918 5 1 A 18,245 18,248
Pension scheme contributions PR Nt 1 L 705 669
18,950 18,917

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
8 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions set out in note 37(a) above did

not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. &M LHZ M
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REHERR s FHEM T AZREMED T ¢

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets LR
Group
%M

2012 2011

ot 2 - “E—f

Available- Available-

Loans and for-sale Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total receivables  financial assets Total

Bk R Wk i A Bk CE3iE
Bl 2em¥ERE W Bl zemEE i
HKS$’000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT BT #HTT #HT I #HTT

Available-for-sale investments AR R - 93,208 93,208 = 78,851 78,851
Due from associates TE Wi 8 A 561 - 561 442 - 442
Trade receivables Ve W57 5 ek 525,978 - 525,978 501,075 = 501,075
Financial assets included in R R B FOR
prepayments, deposits and GEYER T3
other receivables Rz SWEE 81,251 = 81,251 51,173 - 51,173
Cash and cash equivalents RERH&GHIEH 552,147 = 552,147 576,424 - 576,424
1,159,937 93,208 1,253,145 1,129,114 78,851 1,207,965
Financial liabilities Sk £
Group
H M
2012 2011
e R
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
WA A AME RS AR AR
1 4 il 2 ) 4 Tl £ 5
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT W
Financial liabilities included in trade B AT B 5 R
payables, other payables JH Al JRE A R K % M it 284,422 218,903
and accruals HEZ &AM
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JR BT R B Z SRAT A R 934,592 906,264
1,219,014 1,125,167
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CIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

38. &k T H 2 /0 (

)

Financial assets 4 RlE
Company
A
2012 2011
e S R
Available- Available-
Loans and for-sale Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total receivables  financial assets Total
i 93 ok TR R
% ZABEE % ] s ZARMEE okl
HK$000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
W T EW T EHTI EHFI EHTFI EHFI
Available-for-sale investments Wk E R G = 152 152 = 231 231
Due from subsidiaries JEB W T 24 ) 615,653 - 615,653 587,092 = 587,292
Cash and bank balances RERBATHR 463 = 463 306 = 306
616,116 152 616,268 587,598 231 587,829
Financial liabilities L
Company
'
2012 2011
R e
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
TEHRS A AR R B AR AR
1t 2 il £ 1 F) 4 i £ A
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T
Due to subsidiaries JRE A Bt JB5 24 ] 369,600 341,543
Financial liabilities included in trade JE AT B B MRk~ At A ek T R
payables, other payables and accruals FEEE A Z 4 b A 1,097 -
370,697 341,543
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39.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the

Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %% 3 5 MY &

Year ended 31 March 202 E =2 ——F=FA=+—HIFE

3928 VA B 2 AR

A B2 B o A 2 ] 4 i TR 2 BRI A B A P
I

Group
e
Carrying amounts Fair values
e i fFL 2P
2012 2011 2012 2011
SR SR SRS SRk
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T o BT BT T
Financial assets SR
Cash and cash equivalents & KB &EMIEH 552,147 576,424 552,147 576,424
Financial assets included in AT ROE ~ 7T K&
prepayments, deposits and HoAth B WK IR 2
other receivables 4 il E 81,251 51,173 81,251 51,173
Trade receivables JRE W B 5 ik I 525,978 501,075 525,978 501,075
Due from associates R W B 8 2 ) K I 561 442 561 442
Available-for-sale investments A R 90,475 76,118 90,475 76,118
1,250,412 1,205,232 1,250,412 1,205,232
Carrying amounts Fair values
G i ¥ AR ik
2012 2011 2012 2011
R T TR R T4 TR
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT X n BT BT T
Financial liabilities Al AR
Financial liabilities included e B2 50 Bk ~ oAt
in trade payables, other B AN 3 T % it AR
payables and accruals 2 4 b EUR 284,422 218,903 284,422 218,903
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH BT R B Z SRAT A B 934,592 906,264 934,592 906,264
1,219,014 1,125,167 1,219,014 1,125,167

MmN & B AR

n
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. ALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY (continued)

390 P1a B A a0 0 (5)

Company
2
Carrying amounts Fair values
IR i AL 2 F
2012 2011 2012 2011
SR SR SR CF ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BY T 3 BT W T o
Financial assets A
Available-for-sale investments w4k S 152 231 152 231
Due from subsidiaries R Wiz R B 2 R 615,653 587,292 615,653 587,292
Cash and bank balances B4 T SRAT A5 463 306 463 306
616,268 587,829 616,268 587,829
Carrying amounts Fair values
YR i A VAR
2012 2011 2012 2011
R T DR DR-TF DF o
HK$’000 HK$° 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Ve di e n BT BT T
Financial liabilities LA
Due to subsidiaries JRE A Bt JBS 2 ) 369,600 341,543 369,600 341,543
Financial liabilities included in REEH R Z
accruals L 1,097 - 1,097 -
370,697 341,543 370,697 341,543
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39. 2 FAH B A VARG ()

HIERARCHY (continued)

Fair value hierarchy 2 H 2 R

The Group and the Company use the following hierarchy A KR H] J AN F) DL R S 2R i E R Pk A T

for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial H2Z NP :

instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices g WMIEMHREERAEESET S ZH)
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 5 (R 28 Wi w5 = A (i
liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for BRE  REBIREHOCYIEA P EHAE EEEA
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the T B % ] e T 9% ) S R A P A
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or WA BmarEAFE
indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques S M IEAR R W B E W T 35 g (JEVT B
for which any inputs which have a significant effect gEpEmA) MEEHEAEHAE
on the recorded fair value are not based on observable PR 2 B ARk e A 0 A A8 5 T
market data (unobservable inputs) T EAFE

Assets measured at fair value: A FE R G

As at 31 March 2012 B IE—THE=ZH=A,—H

Group Company

£ H A H]

Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1
B e Hasik e
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T T T T T BT T

Available-for-sale investments: Wt E R
Listed equity investments LR E 90,148 - 90,148 152
Unlisted club debenture I b AR - 327 327 =

90,148 327 90,475 152

Mmoo = mAERARE - =T — =% % 151
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39. A V-AH B A V-0 (78)
HIERARCHY (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) AT (75)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued) A FlEFIE2 FE : ()
As at 31 March 2011 REZFE——F=ZJ=1+—H
Group Company
£H |
Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1
S % g st g
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T T T

Available-for-sale investments: WAL R E
Listed equity investments LT RE R R 75,791 = 75,791 231
Unlisted club debenture EI Nk gl Y s = 327 327 -
75,791 327 76,118 231
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RN ARERE R AR A ] Z g R 2 T
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into RS Ay PR R o 1T SR = I A sl
or out of Level 3 in the Group and the Company (2011: Nil). HZ B (ZF——4 : ) -
The Group and the Company did not have any financial liabilities MR-R—HEZH=T—H o AREE AL
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil). WA IR A FEF FZEmaE (CE——
4 ) o
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. 39 95 M Ba 4% BIL H BE B oK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest- AEEZ P ELSB T HOEEMSMNNEZHR
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits. The TEAEBEEREYMEYGFER - ZEEM TR
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for Z EERIE TS R AR M 2 8 T o AR e
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial AR A - REUCR B MR~ I R Wk
assets and liabilities such as available-for-sale investments, trade TH ~ WEAT B 5 W% ak S L Ath JE A 3 0 45 4% Al
receivables, other receivables, trade payables and other payables, SREE KA I EREEEEAL

which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments PR A 2 ) 2 4 i L i S A 2 = o 2 R R
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity JR B~ AR B ~ A R B ~ R 4 B R
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and e R AR Bt o o o o A B ) A B AR T
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are A5\ B o BRI R o

summarised below.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s short and long term debt

obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using variable

rate debts, which is regularly reviewed by senior management.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact
on floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s equity. There is no

impact on the Company’s equity.

RS N

A SR 0 ZEC 7R M T R AR S A L B T B AR
L B A G R S R RIS AR A B

40. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B B BOR (4)

A S5 M0 T SR 0 P T R 3 £ R OB R
A s T E R A B S AR A o

ARG W Z By B RT iR A (2 8 i 8 A K Y
W) MG IR i R R T R Y (P
A Al R R A A ) 2 R o R B
A T Z B SN A0 5 B o

Group
#H
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
B:31 5 BE il 2 A B 22
¥im,/ (W) ¥im,/ (W) Bim, (W4)
HK$’000 HK$’000
o BT
2012 R —T4p
Hong Kong dollar #IT 25 (1,342) -
Japanese Yen H &l 25 (617) -
RMB NG 25 (335) -
Hong Kong dollar #IT (25) 1,342 -
Japanese Yen H &l 25) 617 -
RMB NG (25) 335 -
2011 R4
Hong Kong dollar Wt 25 (1,519) -
Japanese Yen H &l 25 (277) -
RMB AR 25 (345) -
Hong Kong dollar Wt (25) 1,519 -
Japanese Yen H &l (25) 277 -
RMB AR (25) 345 -
*  Excluding retained profits G N % S R |
g oM = B R 2 8 = - = & £ %)
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies

other than the units’ functional currency.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
Japanese Yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the
Group’s equity (due to changes in fair value of forward currency

contracts). There is no impact on the Company’s equity.

40. Y 85 . B 45 BE H B B BOR ()

A B e, B

A AR [ T 2 22 By M B o % S R B TS TR
R BLAL DL LA 2 Th B £ W A S 2 1 AT H
S A A o

AR R AE T A S At A B 3 RN B 2 L
o ACHR [ B A A A (b B A X AU
V1 1 0588 ) O B0 ) B A 4 P RE 2 (ol 7 e 0 8
W 200 B O S0 5 5 B B0 R il R 3 R
B N B s HE 23 15 BE W B I B) 2 AR o AN L
e S A A ] 2 A N S 5 o

Group
£ |
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
JE % B B2 i 1k il 2t
Bm, (W 4) Bom,/ (W4 Bm, (W)
% HK$’000 HK$’000
T BT T
2012 R4
If Hong Kong dollar weakens #5 v JC 5 H R 55 2
against Japanese Yen 1 654 -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens 0 SN R 59 34
against RMB 1 722 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens — #7 #5JC 5, H [H] 58
against Japanese Yen (€] (654) -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  #7 #5 G 5i. A B 5 4
against RMB 1 (722) -
2011 —E 4
If Hong Kong dollar weakens W0 5 H A 59 3
against Japanese Yen 1 (1,220) -
If Hong Kong dollar weakens 5 W0 S N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 540 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens  #7 #5 JG 56 H [H] 56 24
against Japanese Yen (1) 1,220 -
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 77 ¥ JG 5o A\ ¥ 5 24
against RMB @Y (540) -

*  Excluding retained profits
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing

basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale
investments, amounts due from associates and other receivables,
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Group is also exposed to credit risk through the granting of
financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in note

34 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations
of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by
geographical region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as
the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely

dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 24

to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank

borrowings.

Notes to Financial Statements
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40. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B B BOR (4)

g

1 £ el B

AEMEREAZREBATREIEPETR
Sy o RIEAAR B Z WK > A B AR B AT
RHWEF > BALBEBRGEEEERT - )b
Ab > ACSE 5 A B R E WA R 2 R DL > T ARSR
) 2 S M L o A K

A 3 5 T B S IR T o
G T 2 ) A B G WK 2 3
B 2 L O A > Bk R
M 5 T B2 T (o A O R 42
I R T 7R 2 15 S » o — 55 B B 7
W 34k B -

R A 458 I i L0 20 T e 5 8 T S 0 o P EAT
B Gy o BOR T BATATHEAT o HORAE B B4R
WG OLIE R B2 By T - W AT AT
B o BRI ACAR [ 2 B 5 B WOIR Rk o P R S
Lo AT 25 I8 SR S A7 3 > WOAC SR [ P Sl e
KAE B b

7SR B R 9 E W B MR sk = A B R B R A
15 48 8 R B o B 24

i B ¥ 4 B

ACHE BB R A A R B e wh ) TR B
SX Y A R R o SE TR &% B AT R K
b A (U R R B MRosk) MBI H R ok G
BTN B A o ARLE I H AR B
A 1 R B A S BRAT B > PRI AR A
e S 4 P Y S o

HNE®BAERASP « =2 — =% %% 155
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as

L ) % 4 B (7))

40. Y 85 . B 45 BE H B B BOR ()

L4 AT A AR B BLAR AR > DA T S5 A 42 T A

at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual EH R BEAGBRNH
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
Group
£ L
2012
Y- St
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
HEORE AR
124 73 38 18548 m
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T BT BT
Trade payables and other payables AT B 5 IRk & 284,422 - 284,422
At HE A 3K OH
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AR B Z RAT B 869,796 71,853 941,649
Bank guarantees given in lieu N ) 5 28 B RLBE DR
of utility and property rental deposits S 1E h Z AT R 387 - 387
1,154,605 71,853 1,226,458
2011
e
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
12418 7 4532 E=RES Lk
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T o BT
Trade payables and other payables JE A B 5 Rk B 218,903 - 218,903
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE BT R B Z SRAT K 747,096 169,362 916,458
Bank guarantees given in lieu WA T3 R A B AR 4
of utility and property rental deposits e th 2 S8R4T #5 OR 450 - 450
966,449 169,362 1,135,811
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Group

Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings were certain of the
Group’s bank loans in the amount of HK$529,614,000 (2011:
HK$448,176,000). As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s term loan
with on demand clause in the amount of HK$18,750,000 was
repayable over one year in accordance with the terms of the loan.
The loan agreement contained a repayment on-demand clause
giving the bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile,

the total amount was classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe
that these bank loans will be called in its entirety within 12
months, and they consider that these borrowings will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the financial
position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the
lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all

previously scheduled repayments on time.

Company

At the end of the reporting period, the amounts due to
subsidiaries of HK$369,600,000 (2011: HK$341,543,000),
guarantees given to banks in connection with facilities granted
to subsidiaries of HK$887,488,000 (2011: HK$822,616,000)
and guarantees given to third parties in connection with lease
payments for lease agreements entered into by a subsidiary
of HK$45,354,000 (2011: HK$28,322,000) are repayable on
demand.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as available-for-sale investments (note 21)
as at 31 March 2012.

Notes to Financial Statements
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40. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B B BOR (4)

g

i ) % 4 B (7))
9

AT R B 2 AT R AR A T 8T R
529,614,000% JC (= F — —4F : 448,176,000
JL)  cRZE——HE=ZH=1T—H » MEBEK
2R AREE B A RERERGRZAHE
#18,750,000% 7T 7] I — 4 12 R o B IR K
£ ] BB TR R R MK o BT SR AT IR AR RE A
[l R R S o G S N A il i 2 - T ]
BoRFREC B IEER] -

AT IR Bk > MBSO AR S R AT B
AN B 1208 9 2 R B o WO SR A S
e 51 o 4 R R i e T S 2 BT HBOR o R
A A B P AW IR © 2% 8 T B PR ¢ A A B
B A H 2 BB R DL - AR Y R
ARILE G OL ~ W IR A R R AR R A —
T ¥ IR 322 391 982 3K o

A

R IR > AT B RS A W] 3K I 369,600,000 %
JG (2 ——4F 1 341,543,000 70) ~ HtMHE A
V) % T 1 R AT PR 43t =2 15 1 887,488,000
JC (B ——4E 1 822,616,0009 70 ) Kk — [ B
BARG MBS BHZHEN R mE
=07 Z 5 145,354,000 00 (ZF ——4 ¢
28,322,000%5 7C ) A% 4% B K IR -

JB 53¢ UM I B

Jie 5% (B TR i R i PR M R i S T e A il i o
Z B 5 B8 T BORE 2 8 77 2 - MR 1K 2 JEL i o
R ZHEZA=ETH o AREERZE G
e w] 6 th B 4 (BF2 1) A1 o1 B i 48 3 i 5
BB HEARAR JE B o

N E®BAERAAA « =28 — =% 8% 157
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B |
0. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 3%
change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all other
variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. For
the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity
investments, the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for factors

such as impairment which might impact on the income statement.

JBe 5% AR B B ()

40. S 5 o g 45 2L H B B BOR (A1)

A Je e I LA S MR R R B S BLR G SB
SO o WA AR T ST R 2 MR i 3 25
B N AH3 %% B Z SO o B JH 2 A T
o AT B AR AR 2 R AR 2 T
BB AL AR Z R HE R AT B
WA R Z R » Bl -

Group Company
E3] A
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/ Increase/
in fair in profit (decrease) (decrease)
value before tax in equity* in equity*
AT B3 1 3 A B2 Hi 25+
Wi/ (BA) B/ (W) B/ (W) B/ ()
% HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
2012 it S 3
Investments listed in: Fif:
Hong Kong - Available-for-sale - 3 - 2,704 5
(©) - (2,704) Q)
2011 R
Investments listed in: INES &
Hong Kong - Available-for-sale BB E 3 - 1,957 7
3) - (1,957) 7
Japan — Available-for-sale HA -7 4 3 - 317 -
(3) - (317) -
*  Excluding retained profits kN AT IR B Tk
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

41

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or repurchase of shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to
the equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end

of the reporting periods were as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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40. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B B BOR (4)

BAE A

A AR ) 2 2 B A B Tl AR A 4 T AT i
3 AR A R S5 DR ) O I A A AR
Pl 3 DA S R S0 5 3 e RAL R SRR -

7B [0 8 A A0 1 2 A B A B A A I
T DA R o T A ul B A A o AR T
O RO Z YRS ~ 1 SRR B A - B AT
JBe S ey o R E R CFE=ZH =1
Ak —F——FE=A=+—HILEER X
HHZ B BORSAR I B )

ACSE B R A I R B A MR
JEBHAT R B 2 BT BE K B DAAC A WM 25 B A
B A% 1B 2 T 45 B R o 0 A B Rl v A
JE R o REEHIAR > AEEARKRNT

Group
E S|
2012 2011
- St 3 TE A
HK$’000 HK$°000
W T BT T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE AR B Z SRAT B K 934,592 906,264
Equity attributable to equity holders 560 I AR 4 R RE AR
of the Company Fi A % W RE 2 1,105,862 1,082,534
Gearing ratio A EA & 85% 84%

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 29 June 2012.

41. Yo 5 ol 2 b o

g

AWM HHECR F - ZFANA ZHUHEE
=B At I A2 HE D B o

N & B EFER DA » =
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Percentage of
attributable
interest of

Location Use Tenure the Group
7 4 19 A
(DA B Ml L E-¥ipigA
Levels 1 and 2 (west portion) Industrial Medium 100
of Four Seas Group Guangdong term lease
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People’ s Republic of China
w2 A R 36 A T WA A 100
Joi SR 48 il B A 9 R T 3
7O Y 45 I R AR

Aok KM — A e M (W )
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